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MISSION STATEMENT
At AX Group we strive to leverage our entrepreneurial skills to deliver high-quality
innovative developments. This is achieved by inspiring our people to learn from our past,
and to embrace the future with courage and optimism.

VALUES
Our values underpin
and support
everything we do.

CREATIVITY

DETERMINATION

INTEGRITY

We harness the creativity and
ingenuity of our people to develop
new solutions, identify different
lines of business, and pursue new
opportunities to move the business
forward.

We endeavour to create projects with
exceptional quality that exceed client
expectations. We seek to remain at
the forefront of innovation to inspire
growth and progress in the industries
we operate in.

We deliver on what we promise by
operating on a level of transparency
and trust. We act ethically in the
interest of the environment and
communities we work in.
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WHO WE ARE

AX Group is a diversified Group of companies operating

Driven by our family-inspired values, our workforce

in six key sectors: construction, development, healthcare,

contributes to the continued success of the Group. Together,

hospitality, real estate and renewable energy. We strive to

our focus is on exceeding client expectations and leaving a

deliver on our promise to provide the highest quality for the

positive legacy in the industries we serve.

best possible value.
Founded by Chairman Angelo Xuereb in 1975, AX Group
began its existence as a civil engineering firm. In the ensuing
decades, the company took steps towards diversification
by expanding its business portfolio to include restoration
works, hotels, restaurants, care homes, and many other high
quality projects.
In 2018, the Group consolidated its various businesses under
the AX brand. AX Group remains a family-run business, with
the second generation of the Xuereb family actively involved
in driving the company forward by seeking new avenues for
growth related to our core activities.
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

There is no doubt that 2021 has been another successful
year for AX Group. In a diverse group of companies, it is
inevitable that some lines of business do better in certain
years than in others. Similar to many other businesses,
AX Group operated in the challenging and uncertain
economy caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2020 we
realised that the pandemic would continue to impact our
main business – AX Hotels – and for this reason we focused
our energies onto the Group’s development sector. I am
pleased to report that after many years, AX Group obtained

MR ANGELO XUEREB

the full development permit to demolish and redevelop the
Verdala Hotel site in Rabat.
We also channelled our resources and focus to our
properties in Qawra. Having developed a masterplan for
the area, we applied and obtained the full development
permit to extend the Suncrest hotel by adding 4 floors to
the existing building and the total refurbishment of the
public areas of the hotel.

I wish to thank our management
who worked so hard in these
challenging times to achieve
the results we did.
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awaiting approval.
Work to reinforce the structure of the hotel started in

We already have an outline development permit for the

February 2021, which was essential due to the complexity of

Sunny Coast hotel.

the work involved.
Many people have asked why we chose to start work on the
Several studies were carried out to determine the best

Suncrest extension during this current economic climate

approach to do this, ensuring that the newly refurbished

where the hospitality industry has taken the brunt of the

hotel will be conformant to new building and safety

measures imposed by the health authorities. We believe

regulations applicable today.

that once people accept and recognize that they have to
adapt to the new way of life resulting from the pandemic,

Our management team spent countless hours studying the

they will continue to travel as they have done in the past.

plans with a team of expert consultants who were engaged

We have also carefully followed the direction of leading

on these two projects. We continue to improve the designs

authorities such as the World Health Organisation who have

and plans so as to ensure that we achieve the high standards

stated that travel should return to pre-pandemic levels by

for which AX Group is well known. Our objective is for the

2023.

hotel, which is the first of three phases, to once again be
Malta’s leading 4-star hotel in the north of the islands. The

It was for these reasons that we decided to build the hotel

new hotel will have 618 guest rooms, a lagoona pool, a sky

extension now, when demand is weak and our plan is to

bar, rooftop terrace and lounge. The public areas, main

complete the project by early 2023, just in time for the peak

restaurant, amenities as well as the back of house of the

season. The works are moving along at a fast pace in line

hotel have been redesigned to accommodate the increased

with the program of works that will ensure completion by

number of guests that Suncrest will accommodate.

this deadline.

We have also submitted a planning application for the

Work to demolish the Verdala hotel started in August 2021

redevelopment of the hotel lido, as part of the masterplan

and by early December the building had ceased to exist

for our three lidos in Qawra. Plans for the redevelopment

other than as a pile of rubble. Work to clear the debris and

of the Sunny Coast hotel have also been prepared and a
planning application has been submitted for which we are
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sort out the material for disposal or recycling is almost done.

We also carried out a fundamental restructuring of the AX
Group. We created an intermediate holding company – AX

Work on the foundations for the new buildings has started

Real Estate p.l.c. under which we moved many key property-

and activity on site is gaining pace daily. There will be

owning subsidiaries. At the time of writing, we were in the

three new blocks instead of one massive structure of the

process of raising new equity on the Malta Stock Exchange

old hotel. On the most prominent part of the ridge we

and issued bonds, the proceeds of which will mainly be

are constructing a new hotel while the other two blocks

used for the Verdala Hotel and Suncrest Hotel projects.

will be luxury private residences which will be branded as
“The Verdala Terraces”. The new buildings will in fact have

I wish to thank our management team who worked so hard

large terraces to enable the hotel guests and owners of the

in these challenging times to achieve the results we did. I

residences to enjoy the panoramic views from the ridge.

am particularly proud of my daughters Claire and Denise
who continue to lead and take on increasing responsibilities

In order to manage both projects, our workforce in the

and who are so active in furthering the growth that the

development and construction divisions has almost doubled

AX Group is experiencing. I also thank our CEO Michael

and will continue to increase as is required to manage these

Warrington who continues to steer the Group, to build the

projects.

necessary structures that consolidate our achievements and
will ensure the right governance as we expand. I also would

Throughout 2021, our management team has striven hard

like to thank our Board of Directors for their guidance and

to deal with many different aspects of the pandemic. In

support in all the decisions we have taken.

healthcare, the safety and wellbeing of our residents
In construction, we started

I look forward to the next years which will undoubtedly be

work on two prestigious restoration projects, the Jesuits

very busy for AX Group. I am confident and optimistic that

Church in Valletta and the annex to St John’s Co-cathedral.

we are heading in the right direction.

remained the prime focus.

We are also working on the restoration of our new property
in Merchants Street, Palazzo Castelletti which we are
converting into a high-end office.
Angelo Xuereb
Chairman
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MR ANGELO XUEREB WITH MS DENISE MICALLEF XUEREB AND MS CLAIRE ZAMMIT XUEREB
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CEO’S
REVIEW

In 2020, we reported that AX Group had changed its
strategic focus with greater resources committed in its
Development Division. This change was driven by the fact
thatour Hospitality Division was materially impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Through careful financial management
and the strategic

sale of some residential properties

which we completed during 2020 and 2021 we were able
to inject cash into the business. More importantly, our
efforts to obtain planning permits for our Qawra and
Rabat properties were successful and we have started
the work to carry out these two projects that will see

MR MICHAEL WARRINGTON

AX Group grow very significantly in the coming years.
The Group, with the full backing of the family and the
Board of Directors, looks ahead to this new growth, and
further investment in its core businesses with optimism.
AX Group registered a profit for the year after tax of EUR
1,928,278, a marked improvement over the loss incurred in
financial year 2020 of EUR 7,889,730. The Group’s turnover
for 2021 was EUR 35.4M up from EUR 28.7M reported in
2020. This reflects the results of the measures taken, firstly

The Group, with the full backing
of the family and the Board of
Directors, looks ahead to this new
growth, and further investment in
its core businesses with optimism.

to generate revenue from its development activities given
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the weaker performance of the hospitality sector but also

AX Construction has also been entrusted with the restoration

reflects the benefits from careful management of costs and

of the Church of the Jesuits in Merchants Street. We are

the decision to centralise various administrative functions in

especially proud of all the projects we have completed in

2020. The improved profitability also reflects the margins on

Valletta, especially those located along Merchants Street. Over

the sale of real estate assets.

the years, AX Construction has carried out restoration works for
several prominent buildings here, including MUŻA, the Suq

The results for the year also reflect the costs of the Group’s

tal-Belt, the Old University Building, two AX Hotels, and the

re-organisation carried out during the financial year in

Jesuits Church. It is our ambition to continue to restore value

preparation for the Initial Public Offering of AX Real Estate

to our capital city utilising our team of experts in restoration

p.l.c. The total equity for the Group increased to EUR 237M up

projects.

from EUR 217M in 2020. This reflects the profit for the year
that has been retained as well as the revaluation of property.

Naturally AX Construction’s resources are now mainly focused

The Group’s gearing remained low at 31% of total capital.

on the two major in-house projects, the Suncrest extension
and the Verdala Terraces and Grand Hotel Verdala. After

Our Construction division achieved a turnover virtually

having been closed for the past 27 years, we demolished the

unchanged compared to 2020. The construction industry

Verdala Hotel, and are starting work on the construction of

recovered quicker than most other sectors from the

the new development.

challenges brought about by the pandemic. There was a
steady demand for construction projects throughout 2021

The care business performance improved in 2021 over its 2020

and our order book is committed for most of 2022.

results which had experienced considerable cost increases as
we embraced the precautionary measures imposed by the

Important and prestigious restoration projects are being

Homes for Older Persons Authority (Care Quality Standards).

undertaken by AX Construction. Having completed the

Residents could not receive visitors or leave the home and for

Senglea land front fortifications, works are progressing at

a long period of time, they could only communicate virtually

the Maritime Museum in Vittoriosa, and a two-year project is

with their loved ones.

currently underway to construct the annex of St John’s CoCathedral in Valletta. This will be an exhibition space and
visitor centre.
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One solution that was greatly welcomed by both residents

The past year also saw the hospitality industry continue to

and their loved ones was a special communications room that

experience acute staff shortages. To alleviate this problem,

we invested in. The room, divided by a glass partition, enables

staff from all levels within AX Group were called on to lend a

residents and visitors to remain physically isolated from each

hand in certain key areas and on certain dates. This ensured

other while providing an unobtrusive and private setting for

we were able to maintain a satisfactory guest experience for

them to spend quality time together. The facility is still being

all our clients. Migrant workers are again starting to return to

used for unvaccinated visitors.

the island to work in catering, housekeeping, and other key
roles.

Hilltop Gardens continued to experience near full occupancy

We are optimistic that travel in 2022 will show considerable

during the year. The Group has also continued to further

growth over 2021 and we are confident that by 2023, travel to

its application to the Planning Authority to construct an

Malta will have returned to 2019 levels. With the completion

additional floor at Hilltop Gardens. Since our core focus for the

of the Suncrest hotel in Q2 of 2023, the Group is looking to

time being is completing the Verdala and Suncrest projects,

maximise on that year’s tourist high season. Even in terms of

the Group does not intend to start working on this expansion

employment, the Group will continue to grow significantly,

project immediately.

surpassing 1,000 employees in the next year and reaching
around 1,400 by 2023.

AX Hotels was impacted by the travel restrictions imposed
both locally and internationally, especially between November

The Group dedicated a significant amount of time to handling

2020 and June 2021.

Demand for hotel accommodation

the pandemic and its repercussions throughout the first half

during this period was low but recovered materially from July

of the year. Our objectives were to look after management and

onwards. In fact, during the period July – October 2021, our

staff across our businesses, see to our customers’ needs and

revenues were comparable to those achieved in 2019. When

requirements, keep business going, and generate sufficient

the pandemic peaked again in mid-December 2021, we again

liquidity in the business to ensure there were no challenges or

experienced a slowdown in demand but by mid-January 2022

concerns from a financial perspective.

as optimism returned, we saw business start to pick up again.
Communication was a key focus. Regular town hall meetings
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were held across the organisation to allay the fears and

time into another core segment of our business.

concerns of our employees in this time of crisis. At every

The executive management team at AX Group has proved,

juncture, we kept communication open to explain our plans

time and again, that it has the means, knowhow, resources,

and the state of the business. Our employees appreciated

energy, and understanding to drive a diversified corporation

our approach, and we are reassured by their support and

onward even in the most challenging of circumstances. It’s

commitment to the Group.

in a storm that you truly come to realise how sound your
management team is. I feel a great sense of pride in how they

In the first few months of 2021, we began the process to raise

have risen to meet all the challenges that have been thrown

the capital needed for the Verdala and Suncrest projects. It was

our way with optimism and determination.

felt that the most appropriate financing for these projects was
a combination of debt and equity. We started the preparations

I extend my thanks to the management team, to the Xuereb

required for an Initial Public Offer and a bond issue. It was

family, the Board of Directors, and all staff for their commitment

necessary to restructure the Group in order to offer a solution

to the Group’s success.

that was not subject to volatility.

For this reason, we created

AX Real Estate p.l.c. The company was admitted to listing
on the MSE on 15th February 2022. This company will have a
steady income stream from the rental of the properties within
its portfolio.
Michael Warrington
The past year has also seen AX Group make good on its

Chief Executive Officer

commitment to investing in its green footprint. We installed
a PV system on the roof of our Business Centre and on all the
roofs at Hilltop Gardens. These initiatives have led the Group
to explore other exciting and highly innovative investments in
renewable energy. We anticipate these projects to evolve over

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

11

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Angelo Xuereb

Michael Warrington

Denise Micallef Xuereb

Claire Zammit Xuereb

Chairman

Director / Chief Executive
Officer

John Soler

Josef Formosa Gauci

Christopher Paris

Edmond Zammit Laferla

Independent
Non-Executive Director

Independent
Non-Executive Director
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Independent
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Executive Director
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

Michael Warrington

Denise Micallef Xuereb

Claire Zammit Xuereb

Albert Bonello

Dr. David Wain

Lawrence Degabriele

Director / Chief Executive
Officer

Executive Director Construction
and Development

Executive Director
Hospitality and Care

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Legal Officer

Head of Information
Technology

Josephine Grima

Kevin Callus

Charmaine Montesin

Joseph Vella

Caroline Schembri

Head of Human
Resources

General Manager
Sliema and Valletta
hospitality properties

General Manager
AX Care

General Manager
Qawra hospitality
properties

Head of Administration
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AX INVESTMENTS
P.L.C.
AX Investments p.l.c. is the finance vehicle of AX Group, which
was set up in 2001.
The company’s first financing initiative was a private
placement for the financing of the Verdala Mansions project in
Rabat. In 2006, AX Investments listed two public bonds on the
Malta Stock Exchange. The first of these bonds - the 6.7% AX
Investments p.lc. 2014-2016 for the amount of EUR 11.6M was
raised for the general funding of AX Group. Another bond the
4% AX Investments p.l.c. 2013, for an amount of EUR 2.3M, was
to re-purchase the shares in Suncrest Hotels p.l.c. held by the
general public.

This bond was repaid in December 2013. In 2014, the company
issued a 6% Bond redeemable in 2024 for EUR 40M. The
investment was primarily used towards building Hilltop
Gardens, the first retirement village on the island.
AX Investments p.lc. is managed through its board of directors.
The Directors are Mr Angelo Xuereb – Chairman, Mr Michael
Warrington, Dr Patrick Galea, Mr Josef Formosa Gauci, and Chev
Philip Ransley. Dr Ian Vella Galea is the Company Secretary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Angelo Xuereb

Michael Warrington

Chev. Phillip Ransley

Dr. Patrick Galea

Josef Formosa Gauci

Dr. Ian Vella Galea

Chairman

Independent
Non-Executive Director
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AX CARE
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SIMBLIJA CARE HOME NURSES AND CARERS TEAM

EMERGING STRONGER

Malta’s only premium retirement village, comprising of
Hilltop Gardens, Simblija Care Home, and physio and hydrotherapy centre Revive, have come through the second year of
the pandemic with a greater unity of purpose and a stronger
sense of community belonging.
Community has been central to the style and quality of care
provided at Hilltop Gardens and its attendant facilities from
the very start. In addition to the operational and logistical
difficulties of maintaining a safe and healthy retirement

village throughout the pandemic, the more sensitive and
intangible challenge has been keeping the community spirit
alive for our residents.
In line with public health regulations, our residents continued
to live separately within their respective independent
residences. This has enabled the team to uphold the high
level of individualised care given to each of our residents,
while ensuring contagion was low risk via distancing
measures. Notwithstanding, the team was also keen to instil
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a sense of normality within the village by introducing a range
of extra services, catering to our residents’ everyday needs.
Grocery deliveries and take-away options were delivered
directly to apartments, while hair and nail services continued
under strict health and safety protocols by our own staff. Such
domestic and self-care comforts were crucial to providing
residents with a sense of normality and continuity within the
daily life they’ve grown accustomed to within the village.
Of even greater priority was ensuring our residents were
alleviated from the adverse effects of isolation and loneliness
in light of restricted visiting. To this end, the management
team and all the staff made a deliberate effort to engage
more with our residents and see that their social and
emotional needs were being looked after. Together, residents
and staff have emerged through this difficult time stronger,
which has built more of a familial atmosphere within the
community.
Our elderly residents were cared for without active involvement
from their relatives, who trusted the management and staff
unreservedly, a matter we did not take lightly and executed
to the best of our abilities. Following the first lockdown
—when management and staff lived in at the care home
at great personal sacrifice—the second wave brought with
it periods of quarantine. At times, quarantine cases took
out entire shifts of staff, meaning there were fewer carers
available.
PET THERAPY AT SIMBLIJA CARE HOME
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To mitigate the situation, teams of staff were grouped into
bubbles and assigned specific floors within the home. All
in all, investment in personal protective equipment (PPEs)
combined with effective protocols ensured contagion did
not spread and residents and staff remained safe.
Here too the team worked diligently to safeguard our
residents’ psychological and emotional wellbeing. Activities
were organised to help residents remain engaged and
connected. We also assisted residents to maintain regular
communication with relatives, especially in cases of
severe illness or dementia. A room within the home was
converted and equipped with all the necessary audiovisual communication systems so as to facilitate meeting
between residents and their relatives whilst being safely
separated by a protective window. This private space
provided the opportunity for our residents to be safely close
to their relatives in spite of the restrictions imposed by the
authorities.
The room has remained in use even as social distancing
restrictions have eased, enabling the home to welcome
unvaccinated visitors to spend time with their loved ones
without risk of infection. Simblija Care Home is proud to be
the care home in Malta to have introduced this high-quality
initiative, which has been greatly appreciated by residents
and relatives alike.
One factor that has been exacerbated due to the pandemic
REVIVE PHYSIOTHERAPY AND AQUATIC CENTRE
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is the availability of well-trained personnel. As with many
industries in Malta, the retention of support staff in food
and beverage and housekeeping continues to be highly
challenging. While AX Care proudly offers work conditions
at par with international standards, the pandemic has
caused many foreign national employees to leave the island.
Together with the Group’s recruitment arm AX
Careers, management is continuing to hone its
recruitment and retention strategies in order to retain
talent and ensure continuity of care for our residents.
Despite the many challenges of the pandemic, Hilltop
Gardens has continued to experience near-full occupancy.
This is ongoing, with steady interest from prospective
residents wishing to take up residence in the village.
Simblija Care Home is also catering for those requiring
post-op recovery following operations in state hospitals.
Meanwhile, Revive, our specialised physiotherapy and
hydrotherapy centre, has once again reopened its facilities
to residents and non-residents of the village.
Furthermore, the retirement village’s on-site restaurant
The Orchard has a new menu selection that has been well
received by its patrons.
As life at Hilltop Gardens continues to adapt to the new
normal, our commitment remains to provide the highest
standards of care, community living, and facilities for our
residents throughout their time with us. Our objective is
to continue to build on our reputation as Malta’s premium
operator in retirement living and care home options.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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DINING AT SIMBLIJA CARE HOME
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SIMBILJA CARE HOME’S REFURBISHED DINING ROOM.
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HILLTOP RETIREMENT VILLAGE LOBBY
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AX HOTELS
ROSSELLI AX PRIVILEGE COURTYARD
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WEDDING CELEBRATION AT ROSSELLI AX PRIVILEGE

A TRANSFORMATIVE YEAR

The past year has been a challenging but transformative

the challenge of strategically shutting down elements of

period for AX Hotels. While the business experienced severe

the business in line with government guidelines. There were

disruptions due to the ongoing effects of the pandemic, the

challenges at every level, foremost minimising damage to the

AX Hotels team took advantage of this period of downtime

company in both the short- and long-term; safeguarding jobs

to explore new business opportunities within diverse market

and keeping staff morale up; and safely assisting our guests

segments. The result is a stronger hospitality arm with a

with their travel arrangements home in light of various travel

greater focus on developing appealing leisure products that

restrictions. Despite the challenging circumstances, the

attract today’s consumer.

team admirably pulled together to overcome the obstacles
in creative ways.

As the pandemic entered its second year, AX Hotels faced
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One direction the division pursued was the centralisation
and restructuring of operations through redeploying the
skills, passions, and expertise of our employees into different
areas of the wider business. This flexibility enabled the Group
to safeguard the livelihoods of all our staff, while creating
new efficiencies and opportunities for career growth. As one
example, due to Malta’s widespread shortage of staff in the
catering industry, AX Hotels began redeploying and training
existing employees to take on new roles within our Michelinstarred restaurant Under Grain rather than recruiting anew.
Today, these members of staff are proud to be part of the
Under Grain team and will continue to be employed in their
new functions.
This is just one way in which AX Hotels has been harnessing the
talent of its people to create stronger, more united operations
with increased economies of scale. Elsewhere in the Group,
with Suncrest Hotel currently closed for redevelopment, staff
have already been redeployed within our other six hotels and
many dining outlets.
The pandemic has brought changes to the global hospitality
industry, not least in traveller and holidaymaker trends.
Customers look to travel as a way to enjoy unique experiences.
A flexible workforce has been key to remaining competitive
and profitable in this highly volatile economic situation.

UNDER GRAIN WINTER MENU
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The AX Hotels management team was quick to analyse the
wider market to cater towards newly established trends and
expectations.
Once travelling restrictions eased and Malta began welcoming
foreign guests again, AX Hotels saw a rapid increase in demand.
We also noted a significant change in the demographic of
clients we were hosting. The young family and silver spender
market declined, while there was a rise in the millennial and
30-to 40-year-olds market. We began to shift our hospitality
products to better cater for these audiences, including a
greater focus on an improved digital experience through our
online platforms and services.
AX Hotels responded proactively to high occupancy and the
challenge of industry wide staff shortages by maintaining room
rates at pre-pandemic levels. This strategy demonstrates
the importance of effective yield management tools to
pricing the hotels services in highly competitive markets.
The trend for last minute bookings as customers search for
opportunities intensified. In spite of this, our management
was still able to achieve above average occupancies in our
hotels.

STELLAR SERVICE AT ROSSELLI AX PRIVILEGE
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Seeing that demand was likely to remain weak throughout
2021 and the early part of 2022, AX Group’s Board of Directors
took the opportunity to start work on the redevelopment of
our Qawra properties. We started with the vertical extension
of the Suncrest Hotel, as a first phase of the masterplan we
have developed. Likewise, we have started work on our new
5-star luxury hotel as part of the Verdala project. We are
confident that these investments will see AX Group achieve
its ambitious growth targets.
A strategic approach to brand positioning will be key
to diversifying our hotel portfolio to cater for emerging
hospitality trends. We strongly believe that AX Hotels
will remain competitive and respond proactively to the
rapidly changing trends as the global travel and hospitality
landscape continues to shift and evolve.

AX THE PALACE, SLIEMA
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AWARD WINNING TEMPTASIAN RESTAURANT AND LOUNGE
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LUNCHEON EXPRESS AT GRAIN STREET
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GRAIN STREET
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UNDER GRAIN MICHELIN TEAM
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NEW CHEEKY MONKEY RESTAURANT IN QAWRA
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AX DEVELOPMENT
VERDALA ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
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ARTISTIC IMPRESSION OF THE SUNCREST HOTEL

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
FOR A BETTER TOMORROW
AX Development is the Group’s property division. Over the

To carry out all the projects we have recruited a number

years we have acquired prime sites which we intend to

of architects, engineers, draughtsmen and designers

develop into new and exciting projects.

who throughout 2021 worked to prepare the designs and
technical requirements for these two ambitious projects. We

Our focus during the last five years has been in restoring

have engaged leading architectural firms in Malta to design

three properties in Valletta. We acquired two properties on

these two properties. In our approach, we have opened up

Merchants Street, which we have renovated and converted

parts of the sites and created open spaces so as to integrate

into The Saint John Boutique Hotel and Rosselli AX Privilege.

the buildings in their environment. These open spaces will

The Group also purchased a prestigious property on

provide light and minimise the visual impact of the projects,

Merchants Street which we are currently renovating.

particularly in the case of Verdala which is located on a ridge.
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The interior designs for the Suncrest extension were created
by our in-house team while the public areas have been
entrusted to local and foreign designers with international
experience. Plans were submitted for planning approval and
the projects were brought forward to ensure that as soon as
the permits were obtained, works could begin immediately
and would be completed by April 2023. Work to reinforce and
consolidate the Suncrest hotel structure begun in February
2021 but gained momentum in November 2021 when the
hotel closed. We are confident that the team working on the
project will deliver this within the expected timeframe.
Another exciting and innovative concept is the conversion of
a palazzo in the heart of Merchants Street, Valletta. The Group
has recognised an untapped opportunity within the heart of
the capital to create upmarket, shared office spaces. The 41
Merchants Street project will offer an intelligently designed,
service-led workspace solution. Works have already started
and will be at an advanced stage by the end of 2022.

41 MERCHANTS STREET ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
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41 MERCHANTS STREET ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
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CONCEPT RESTAURANT AT SUNCREST HOTEL

SUNCREST
LOWER
LOBBY ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
FALCON
HOUSE
IN SLIEMA
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FALCON HOUSE
FALCON HOUSE, SLIEMA
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AX CONSTRUCTION
RESTORED CHURCH OF ST. CATHERINE’S IN ZEJTUN
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RESILIENCE
Decades of experience combined with the exceptional
workmanship of our team have given us the knowhow and
skills as well as the vision and confidence, to undertake more
ambitious and challenging projects, both internally and for
our customers. AX Construction is well positioned to deliver
a standard of the highest calibre in all of our construction
and restoration projects. It is this concurrent commitment to
quality and good service, as well as our deep understanding
of the industry that makes us leaders. We truly believe in
our mission statement: “Building our future, restoring our
heritage”.
Over the past year, construction in Malta continued mostly
unhindered as the sector was not forced to a halt due
to national lockdowns. While AX Construction remained
committed to actively pursuing new projects, the prime
concern for management was to ensure the entire team
was working safely and responsibly in line with rules and
recommendations made by the health authorities.
Managing sites proved to be an ongoing challenge, but
through a concerted effort, the team successfully managed
to introduce effective measures and protocols to ensure our
people remained safe while delivering a range of noteworthy
construction and restoration projects to spec and on
schedule.

RESTORATION WORKS
CHURCH OF ST. CATHERINE’S, ŻEJTUN

Within offices and on building sites, greater emphasis was
placed on hygiene and sanitation practices. The company also
provided staff with the necessary protective equipment for their
continued safety and wellbeing. To minimise the risk of contagion
we organised private transport for workers who normally relied
on public transport to come to work. The management team
remained highly flexible throughout this period. We embraced
the global trend to allow greater flexibility to those employees
who needed to work from home, such as parents with young
children and individuals at increased risk of illness.
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Due to the widespread shift towards remote working on
the island, another significant challenge was to ensure
communication remained open between the company,
architects, clients, and other official project partners. With
more people taking caution not to be exposed to the virus
spread, management took the initiative to transition to online
meetings wherever possible, while ensuring regular on-site
inspections were carried out as needed.
Despite the many unprecedented challenges, the past year
has seen AX Construction carry out works on several projects,
including:
•
•
•
•

the completion of the Senglea land front bastions,
including the Gardjola;
the continuation of works on the Malta Maritime Museum
in Vittoriosa;
the commencement of works to restore the Church of the
Jesuits in Valletta; and
the commencement of works of the new Visitor Centre at
St John’s Co-Cathedral.

All in all, AX Construction’s experience has strengthened its
reputation as a leader in the local sector. The company has
continued to build successful ongoing relationships with
various key corporate clients.

DEMOLITION OF THE GRAND HOTEL VERDALA
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Looking ahead, the team is gearing up to oversee a number
of prestigious restoration projects that are set to commence
in the coming months. Most notable is the two-year project
at St John’s Co-Cathedral, where piling and foundation works
are currently being finalised. From Q2 of 2022, above-ground
works will start on the Cathedral’s new Visitor Centre.
Furthermore, as AX Group’s in-house construction arm, the
team is also overseeing the Group’s long-awaited Verdala
project. The final phase of the demolition of the old Grand
Hotel Verdala was completed in December 2021 making way
for the new luxury development - The Verdala Terraces. The
AX Construction team is also fulfilling works to extend the
Suncrest resort by adding four floors to the existing hotel.
In addition to our brick-and-mortar achievements, AX
Construction strives to lead the market in building strong
relationships with its clients. We operate on a level of
transparency, trust, and understanding between all parties
concerned and provide practical, efficient and cost-effective
solutions where quality is never compromised. It is this
commitment to excellence that ensures AX Construction
remains a contractor of choice for superior civil engineering
and restoration projects that stand the test of time.

ST. JOHN’S CO CATHEDRAL
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CHURCH OF THE JESUITS, VALLETTA
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MARITIME MUSUEM, VITTORIOSA
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AX REAL ESTATE P.L.C.
VERDALA ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
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MOSTA TARGA GAP BUSINESS CENTRE

A DIVERSIFIED
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Decades ago, AX Group set out a path for its real estate

The Estates Group builds on the expertise and resources

operations with two firm goals: firstly, to consistently advance

of AX Group to own, develop and manage diverse, local

quality standards in the properties it develops and manages;

real estate investments with good rental income streams

and secondly, to give its investors and clients long-term peace

that

of mind through sound property investment opportunities and

communities, and continue to raise the bar in real estate

long-term growth. Today, having consolidated the Group’s

investment in Malta. The Estates Group holds a portfolio

well-diversified portfolio of managed local properties under

of properties that are in the hospitality, care home and

AX Real Estate p.l.c. (“the Estates Group”), we are an industry

retirement village business, offices, warehouses and other

leader.

industrial properties as well as commercial and residential

complement

their

surroundings,

enhance

local

property. The long-term objective is to grow the number of
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SPRINGFIELD PENTHOUSE

properties held, diversify the mix of uses of these properties

these mentioned projects.

and achieve steady long-term growth in the value of these

We remain committed to building on AX Group’s track record

properties and the income derived therefrom.

and elevating this success further to ensure good long-term
property investment opportunities.

At the time of writing this report, AX Group was in the process
of listing AX Real Estate p.l.c. on the Malta Stock Exchange.

We firmly believe that the true value of real estate lies in

The purpose of this move was to finance the significant

how well it serves its intended use, the people who occupy

investment in the Verdala Hotel and Virtu Heights project in

that building and the community where it is situated. We

Rabat, together with the Suncrest hotel extension in Qawra.

are also keen to make a lasting contribution to our nation’s

The finance that is being raised through the listing is part of

development while remaining firmly grounded in our family-

the estimated EUR 110M that AX Group needs to complete

business principles.
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VERDALA ARTISTIC IMPRESSION
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AX CAREERS
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CONSTRUCTION STAFF MEMBERS ON SITE

DIVERSE IN TALENT,
UNITED IN PURPOSE
The pandemic has profoundly changed the world of work,

reopened to business in June 2021 but by year end our

particularly recruitment and hiring. The entire private sector

management had restored operational manning to the levels

is in fact still struggling to engage employees because of the

needed for our continued operations.

exodus of foreign workers driven by the pandemic.
Again and again, we saw many employees from different
AX Group was equally hard hit with the crisis of understaffing,
especially in the hotels division with operational disruptions
as foreign workers left or were repatriated whilst Maltese
workers left the tourism sector entirely and moved to other
jobs. The staffing problems remained even after the industry

divisions willingly go above and beyond the call of duty and
voluntarily offered to fill in for the vacant posts, enabling our
hotels and food and beverage outlets to ensure that our guests’
needs were properly catered for. The teamwork exhibited
during these tough times was exemplary and commendable;
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a source of inspiration for senior management and directors at
AX Group.
Our staff are passionate about what they do, and for their
much-valued contribution we offer a welcoming company
culture, competitive wages, excellent health and leisure
benefits, training and personal development opportunities,
as well as the support and resources to maintain a healthy
work-life balance. Thanks to these benefits and incentives,
AX Group is widely recognised as an employer of choice in
the markets we operate in.
We go to great lengths to attract top talent at every touch
point, starting from a potential candidate’s initial contact with
us through AX Careers, our in-house recruitment arm. In this
highly competitive job market, we understand the need to
invest time and resources to create meaningful connections
with candidates. For this reason, we launched the AX Careers
online portal, which provides applicants with an insight into
our values, goals, and company culture.
AX Group is also a strong advocate for workplace diversity, a
principle we have put into practice for well over 30 years. Around
70% of our workforce is comprised of foreign nationals, many
hailing from outside the EU. Embracing multiculturalism
has brought about new opportunities, a wider talent pool,
and different perspectives to the organisation. A crucial
part of our success in integrating such a large multicultural
contingent is the AX Academy, which was set up to help
ROSSELLI KITCHEN AND SERVICE STAFF
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recruits overcome barriers and foster cross-cultural respect
and understanding.
In today’s business climate, the recruitment and training
of employees is essential to the retention of talent. This has
been at the core of the Group’s philosophy, and it is why the
Academy also specialises in the training and development
of our personnel. By offering opportunities for professional
training and career advancement, we ensure our employees
feel more satisfied, confident, and secure in their jobs. Not
only does this create a stronger, more engaged workforce, it
is also an attractor for fresh talent looking to build a satisfying
career with us.
Our hiring managers are dedicated to finding the right
candidates who have the potential to grow within our
company. We welcome applicants with diverse backgrounds
to bring in different perspectives. By aspiring to an inclusive
workplace, our people have access to a multitude of
knowledge and skills that will serve them well in their career
development. We reward initiative and seek to promote from
within as much as possible.
Through our Knowledge Centre, we also provide our
people with a platform to voice their expertise and firsthand experiences. We place great importance on fostering
a knowledge-sharing culture to give our employees
the opportunity to acquire, assimilate, and transfer new
knowledge. We highly value what our people have to say
and believe this creates a stronger, more united Group that
is working towards excellence on all fronts.
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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HOUSEKEEPER - AX THE PALACE
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HR MANAGER - AX CARE
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BEYOND THE BUSINESS
BUSINESS CENTRE SOLAR PANELS
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AX CARE CLEANUP, NAXXAR

BUSINESS WITH A CONSCIENCE

At AX Group we continue to recognise our responsibility
and obligation to leave a lasting, positive impact in the
industries and communities we operate in. We continually
strive to improve our behaviours and decision-making
processes to do business responsibly. Throughout 2021,
we launched several initiatives and efforts to benefit our
people, our customers, our communities, and our
environment.

CELEBRATING OUR PEOPLE
Our people are at the heart of everything we do. The respect
and values we extend to our clients and customers is mirrored
in the career journey we provide for our own people. We believe
in fostering a workplace based on equality of opportunity and
are proactive in our mission to promote diversity and inclusion
within all facets of our business units.
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The talent and hard work of our diverse teams has been
crucial to the long-term success and growth of the AX
Group. This was never more evident than throughout the
pandemic. At a time of great upheaval and uncertainty in our
core industries, management witnessed first-hand how our
people pulled together to help colleagues, clients, and the
business wherever possible.
Time and again we have seen this strong spirit of teamwork
and solidarity among our people, which has buoyed the
business and ensured we were agile enough to recover, pivot,
and progress.
In 2021, we took the opportunity to shine the spotlight on
members of our staff at our latest edition of the AX Group
Annual Long Service Employee Awards Night. The ceremony
saw management take to the stage to express their
gratitude to a number of dedicated employees for their
years of unwavering service to the Group. The night also paid
homage to retirees who have played an integral part in the
AX Group story over the years.
We take pride in our people and strive to provide them
with a caring and flexible workplace environment that
befits their talents, skills, and dedication. We achieve this
through promoting from within, paying competitive salaries,
creating opportunities for staff to cross and upskill within
all our business units, providing a comprehensive benefits
programme, and many other initiatives that enable our
people to enjoy long and fulfilling careers with the AX Group.

AX FOUNDATION
Launched in 2006 by AX Group Founder and Chairman
Mr Angelo Xuereb, AX Foundation is the charitable arm of
the Group which has provided support and financial aid to
many local causes over the years. Today, the Foundation is
chaired by Ms Claire Zammit Xuereb and efforts are being
focused on helping persons on the autism spectrum to live
independently.
Last year, the Foundation launched the first edition of the AX
Ability Awards, which are aimed at advocating for inclusivity
and celebrating the abilities and creativity of people living
with invisible challenges, with a special focus on children and
youths. The ceremony shines a light on positive role models
who are using their talents to inspire others make positive
changes in their lives. The award seeks to enable these
promising young persons in education, sports, and the arts
to fulfil their potential by recognising their achievements
and supporting them on their journey.
The first recipient of the AX Ability Award was teenager
pianist Alessia Bonnici. She was recognised for her
exceptional musical talents and her admirable efforts in
developing a short musical film titled Ale’s Project. The
project was endorsed by the Commission for Rights of
People with Disability, the Faculty of Social Wellbeing and
the Autism Parents Association, amongst others. It gives
us great pride to be supporting Ms Bonnici to share her
message for inclusivity and awareness to a wider audience.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

58

COMMUNITY & ENVIRONMENTAL
INITIATIVES
Through the generous spirit of our people, we strive to be
ambassadors for change and actively support initiatives we
believe will make a tangible difference to various causes.
Extending a helping hand, whether through financial aid or
community action, has become an integral part of life at AX
Group.
Every year, management and HR continue to plan out a
carefully considered CSR calendar to support employee
engagement, charitable campaigns, volunteer events, and
other vital activities that are in line with our values.
In December 2021 AX Group sponsored LifeCycle 2022.
This local charitable organisation aimed to raise funds and
awareness in support of renal patients across Malta and
Gozo by embarking on a 2,000 km cycling trip from Buenos
Aires, Argentina to Santiago, Chile in 10 days. Operating since
1999, all funds generated by LifeCycle’s initiatives go towards
research in determining causes and cures of kidney disease,
improving the support systems and quality of life for patients,
as well as raising awareness of the illness. We are proud to
offer support and further exposure for this worthy cause.
Last June, AX employees took to the streets of Naxxar on a
community clean-up initiative. Several bags of litter and
pieces of bulky refuse were collected from around Naxxar’s
streets and surrounding countryside. We’re committed to

organising more events of this type in the future as part of
our commitment to the environment.
We continue to be active champions of worthy global events
such as International Women’s Day, Pink October, and
Movember. In October 2021, AX Group’s head office staff
came together for a charity walk in aid of Europa Donna
Malta, a local NGO which supports individuals and their
families suffering from breast cancer. In December, the
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PINK OCTOBER WALK

Group contributed to Puttinu Cares’ Christmas initiative to
bring festive cheer to the children at the Rainbow Ward at
Mater Dei Hospital.
We also continue to embrace and accelerate solutions that
help reduce our carbon footprint. Following on from our
investment in the Imselliet Solar Farm in the limits of Mgarr,
the Group has been implementing plans to incorporate solar
panel technology within our various offices and buildings.
Last year, we installed solar panels across the AX Business

Centre and Hilltop Gardens, which are helping us generate
over 380Kw of clean energy per annum.
Through all that we do, we remain committed to strategically
broadening our CSR efforts to address and contribute towards
worthy issues that will benefit generations to come.
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HILLTOP GARDENS SOLAR PANELS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of
AX Group p.l.c. (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group” or “AX
Group”) for the year-ended 31 October 2021.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is the ultimate parent company of the AX Group, which is mainly
involved in the provision of hospitality and entertainment services, construction,
healthcare and property development.
PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Company
The profit for the year amounted to EUR53,091,999 (2020: EUR287,156).
On 24 March 2021, the Company merged with AX Holdings Limited, an intermediate
holding company within the Group and direct subsidiary of AX Group p.l.c. Following
the merger date, the performance of the Company reflected the activities of both
companies which includes management fee income charged to subsidiaries of
EUR626,097 and staff costs of EUR1,673,110.
During the year under review, the Group went through a reorganisation exercise,
with the ultimate aim of consolidating the main property letting activities of the
Group into one newly formed division under AX Real Estate p.l.c. The shares in a
number of subsidiaries were sold to another subsidiary, AX Real Estate p.l.c., to form
this new subgroup. The sale of the shares held by the Company resulted in a gain
on disposal of investments of EUR46 million since the investments were previously
held at cost.
Furthermore, the Company received dividends of EUR10.1 million (2020: EUR0.3
million) from its subsidiaries.
The increase in finance costs mainly represents interest on loans with subsidiaries
which were previously held by AX Holdings Limited.

Group
The COVID-19 pandemic continued to cause various disruptions to the operations of
the Group.
Notwithstanding the negative impact, the Hospitality division remains the largest
business division within the AX Group. The closure of restaurants and non-essential
shops imposed by the local authorities on the 5 March 2021 continued to negatively
impact the performance of the Group’s hospitality division. In May 2021, following

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

the rapid vaccination programme, the local health authorities announced that Malta
had achieved herd immunity which in turn led to the gradual easing of a number
of restrictions. Throughout the summer months, the hotels experienced a steady
increase in both turnover and operating profit when compared to 2020. This trajectory
continued throughout all of 2021 although in December 2021, the performance was
dampened by the surge in cases following the new Omicron variant of COVID-19.
The diversification in various business segments is a key strength of the Group since if a
particular market suffers a setback, the other business divisions may help compensate
for that loss. This was in fact the case in 2020 and 2021, whereby management
accelerated activity in the ongoing property developments with a view to completing
two key projects. During the year, the development division completed the mixeduse development at Targa Gap in Mosta and the Falcon House development in
Sliema. The residential apartments at Targa Gap have almost all been sold or rented
out. Part of the offices at ground floor level were rented out with the remaining
office space contracted with third parties for a 10-year lease. All apartments at Falcon
House have been sold during the year except one apartment which was sold after
year end. In addition, in 2021, the Group obtained a full development permit for the
redevelopment of the Verdala Hotel site in Rabat, and another full development
permit for the extension of the Suncrest Hotel in Qawra. Construction works on both
projects started during the financial year under review.
The performance of the Care division was to a lesser extent, impacted by various
restrictions and measures imposed by the health authorities throughout the year.
The independent units at Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village were almost fully
occupied throughout the year whilst the Group experienced challenges in achieving
the budgeted occupancy at the Simblija Care Home. Additional operational costs
were incurred due to the precautionary measures that were taken to safeguard the
residents at Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village and the Simblija Care Home.
The Construction division was not materially affected by the pandemic and continued
to operate with little disruption. However, during the first quarter of the financial
year, a number of third-party construction projects were delayed and commenced
later than originally planned. AX Construction remained heavily involved in the
execution of internal projects and was primarily focused on the completion of
Falcon House development in Sliema and the consolidation of the Suncrest hotel
structure. Following the 18 month closure of the Suncrest hotel in November 2021, AX
Construction started works on the upward extension which will see an addition of 168
rooms and several amenities on the rooftop of the hotel.
The AX Group’s investment in Valletta Cruise Port p.l.c. remained heavily impacted by
the pandemic. Following the restrictions imposed on 5 March 2021, the retail outlets,
bars and restaurants at the Valletta Waterfront were closed in accordance with the
restrictions imposed by the Health Authorities. However, following the gradual easing
of restrictions, business picked up in the summer months and operating profitability
more than doubled in 2021 compared to 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT – CONTINUED

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

PERFORMANCE REVIEW - CONTINUED

The Company is exposed to risks inherent to its operation and can be summarized
as follows:

Group revenue stood at EUR35,418,160, an increase of EUR6,702,193 over the previous
year. The increase was mainly attributable to the sale of units at the Targa Gap
complex and Falcon House, as well as an increase in rental income. Operating results
during the year increased by EUR9,297,238, from a loss of EUR4,467,145 to a profit of
EUR4,830,093. This was partly due to the increase in revenue as mentioned as well as
a gain on revalued investment properties of EUR4,964,812. The Group’s profit before
taxation for the year amounted to EUR1,455,148 (2020: Loss before tax of EUR8,229,603).
As at year-end, the AX Group’s equity stood at EUR237,142,681(2020: EUR217,448,572).

Financial key performance
Indicators

Revenue and other operating
income
Operating profit/(loss)

Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

35,805,634

29,056,495

10,891,148

333,333

4,830,093

(4,467,145)

54,063,828

196,453

1.

Strategy risk

Risk management falls under the responsibility of the Board of Directors. The Board is
continuously analysing its risk management strategy to ensure that risk is adequately
identified and managed. The Audit Committee regularly reviews the risk profile
adopted by the Board of Directors.
2.

Operational risks

The Company’s revenue is mainly derived from interest charges and rental income
charged to related parties and hence the Company is heavily dependent on
the performance of the AX Group. The Company regularly reviews the financial
performance of the AX Group of companies to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity
to sustain its operations.
3.

Legislative risks

The Company is governed by a number of laws and regulations. Failure to comply
could have financial and reputational implications and could materially affect the
Company’s ability to operate. The Company has embedded operating policies and
procedures to ensure compliance with existing legislation.
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND EXPOSURES

Net finance (costs)/income

(3,916,213)

(3,441,793)

(2,348,952)

97,793

1,928,278

(7,889,730)

53,091,999

287,156

Earnings/(Loss) per share

1.66

(6.77)

Total equity and liabilities

374,099,250

348,657,388

Profit/(Loss) after tax

Note 35 to the financial statements provides a detailed analysis of the financial risk to
which the Group and the Company is exposed.
DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

171,703,010

29,148,604

GOING CONCERN
Having made an appropriate assessment of going concern as discussed in Note 2.1
to these financial statements, the Directors, at the time of approving these financial
statements, have determined that there is reasonable expectation that the Group
and the Company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable
future. For this reason, these financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis which assumes that the Group and the Company will continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and will meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due.

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
In February 2022, AX Group managed to successfully list AX Real Estate p.l.c. on the
Malta Stock Exchange, with 25% of the ordinary A shares being taken up by the general
public. Through this transaction, AX Real Estate p.l.c. raised EUR13,645,644. In conjunction
with the share issue, AX Real Estate p.l.c. also issued EUR40 million unsecured bonds
redeemable in 2032. The general public subscribed to EUR18,354,600 bonds whilst the
remaining EUR21,645,400 bonds were allocated by AX Real Estate p.l.c. to the Company
through the part conversion of the existing intra-group loan with AX Real Estate p.l.c. It is
the intention of the Company to dispose of the allocated bonds at the opportune time
to ascertain sufficient liquidity for the Suncrest and Verdala hotel developments. Refer to
Note 38 for further details.
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DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the present Directors
remain in office.
AUDITORS
Ernst & Young Malta Limited have expressed their willingness to continue in office and
a resolution for their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

solar orientation, ensuring less reliance on electrical lighting as well as heating and
cooling, included features such as thermal and acoustic insulation, natural ventilation
systems, roof and wall insulation and double-glazed UV protection windows, amongst
others. For instance, in the Hilltop building, we have made use of Aircrete blocks as
a building medium, which is made of a lightweight material with better thermal
efficiency. A reservoir was also added in to capture water and use it for irrigation, thus
further minimising the use of water.

Operations of buildings

STATEMENT ON NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION
In line with the Directive 2014/95/EU2 and pursuant to Article 177 of the Companies
Act (Cap. 386) and in terms of the Sixth Schedule to the Act, the directors hereby
report the impact of its activities on environmental, social and employee matters,
respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery matters.
OUR BUSINESS MODELS
The AX Group is a diversified group of companies operating in six key sectors:
construction, development, healthcare, hospitality, real estate and renewable energy.
We strive to deliver on our promise to provide the highest quality for the best possible
value. Founded by chairman Angelo Xuereb in 1977, AX Group began its existence
as a civil engineering firm. In the ensuing decades, the company took steps towards
diversification by expanding its business portfolio to include restoration works, hotels,
restaurants, care homes, and many other high-quality projects. In 2018, the Group
consolidated its various businesses under the AX brand.

Existing operations and buildings are periodically reviewed and monitored for energy
usage and efficiency. Across our properties electrical light bulbs have been replaced
with energy efficient alternatives and appliances are being replaced with more
energy-efficient ones, such as energy efficient minibars in our hotels’ guest rooms.

Carbon matters
As a Group we aim to be at the forefront of the business community in championing
actionable carbon neutral policies and protocols in our activities. We have taken
several steps towards generating renewable energy.
AX Group installed solar panels on the rooftop of the AX Business Centre in Mosta and
started generating electricity since October 2021. Moreover, through its investment in
the Imselliet Solar JV, another solar farm was installed on Hilltop Gardens Retirement
Village roof top, generated 380Kw in addition to the solar farm launched in 2020 at
the ex-Imselliet quarry, limits of Mgarr.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSCIOUSNESS

WASTE

At AX Group we are extremely conscious of our ecological responsibilities and we
strive to minimise our negative environmental externalities as much as possible. We
do this both in terms of the developments we build as well as through our own internal
practices. We are constantly on the look-out for opportunities to improve on energy
efficiency, reduce waste, carbon and greenhouse gas emissions and ultimately
reduce our environmental footprint. Refer to the AX Group p.l.c. Annual Report 2021,
specifically under the Beyond the Business –Community & Environmental Initiatives
sub-section, for further details on the policies and extensive investments undertaken
during the year to mitigate the adverse impacts that the Group activities have on the
environment.

We have started a process to measure waste generation, with a view of taking stock
of the current situation and eventually establish a strategy on waste management.

Design and Construction of buildings
The Group’s commitment to environmental sustainability has always been at the
centre of our activities, reflected especially in the way we have been designing our
buildings over the years. Our Development and Construction teams take great care
in designing buildings with energy efficiency features including accounting for the
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AX Group has also embarked on a programme to reduce the annual paper
consumption, through internal educational campaigns, encouraging employees
to go paperless and investment in computer hardware. All paper generated in
the office is recycled. All cheque settlements have been replaced with electronic
payments. Remittance advices are also sent digitally, resulting in significant cost
savings on paper and postage.
Hotels have also replaced all single-use plastics with recyclable materials, resulting in
our properties being awarded the Green Mobility label by the Malta Tourism Authority.
Moreover, within the Construction division, we practice source separation, which
eliminates waste and separates materials that can be recycled. This has resulted in a
near total elimination of all waste previously dumped in mixed landfills.
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OTHERS
Understanding that Malta’s natural environment plays a key role in our operations,
it is important that as a business, we take great care and consideration of our
surroundings, whilst also raising awareness.
In this regard, during the year Simblija Care Home and Hilltop Gardens Retirement
Village organised a clean-up campaign in conjunction with the Naxxar Local Council,
thereby not only improving the living environment around the homes but also
bringing more awareness to the public.
We also remain committed to broaden our sustainability practices, through the
investment and research in new solutions for our developments and operations. We
are also looking into the possibility of shifting our vehicles to electric and ultimately
achieve carbon neutrality.
EU TAXONOMY DISCLOSURE
In accordance with European Regulation 2020/852 of June 18, 2020, AX Group is subject
to the obligation to disclose the part of its 2021 revenue, its capital expenditures, and
operating expenses eligible under the EU Taxonomy on sustainable activities. In the
future, eligibility to the EU Taxonomy will need to be complemented with disclosure
on the alignment with the EU Taxonomy. Taxonomy-eligible economic activity
means an economic activity that is described in the delegated acts supplementing
the Taxonomy Regulation irrespective of whether that economic activity meets any
or all of the technical screening criteria required for alignment. At this point the
EU regulation is effective for objectives related to climate mitigation and climate
adaptation, with further delegated acts to be published at a later stage.
In order to identify its business activities covered by the nomenclature of the European
Taxonomy, the Group relied on the Delegated Act on Climate supplementing
Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament, and Annex 1 & 2 to this
Delegated Act. Eligible activity classification was done through the officially-assigned
NACE codes.
The evaluation of the eligibility of the Group’s business activities has been conducted
on the basis of the Taxonomy and Delegated Regulation (Annex I – KPIs of non-financial
undertakings) and its definition of the denominator and nominator of the 3 required
KPIs (Turnover, CAPEX and OPEX). It was performed through a methodological
approach consisting of:
I.
II.

III.

documenting and assessing for each of those economic activities their
’eligibility’ to the first two environmental objectives: ’Climate Change
Mitigation’ and ’Climate Change Adaptation’ included in the EU taxonomy in
order to determine the nominator of each of the 3 KPIs.

Turnover considered for this analysis covers all business activities of the Group as at
October 31, 2021, at a gross level to take into account all underlying economic activities.
CAPEX consists of additions to tangible and intangible assets during the financial
year 2021 considered before depreciation, amortization and any re-measurements
recognized by the Group.
OPEX consists of all operating expenditures relating to the day-to-day running of the
Group properties and operations as at October 31, 2021, at a gross level to take into
account all underlying economic activities.
Based on the above considerations and methodology, the table below shows the
actual KPI related to the EU Taxonomy.
Turnover

CAPEX

OPEX

Taxonomy-Eligible Activities (%)

51.2

76.5

53.7

Taxonomy-Non-Eligible Activities (%)

48.8

23.5

46.3

SUPPORTING SOCIETY AND THE COMMUNITY
AX Group and its employees have always championed their societal values and
their larger responsibility towards making a difference. Through varying initiatives
both within the Group as well as within society, the Group tries to ensure the wellbeing of both its employees as well as other members of society. The section AX
Careers within the AX Group p.l.c. Annual Report 2021 gives a detailed overview of the
people strategy and initiatives undertaken by the Group throughout the year, while
a comprehensive overview of the Group’s social responsibility matters is disclosed in
the section Beyond the business - AX Foundation and Community & Environmental
initiatives within the same Annual Report 2021.

extracting total denominator for the 3 KPIs from the financial reporting
system,
identifying those activities that might fall within the list of economic activities
covered in ‘Delegated Acts’,
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Ensuring Staff well-being

Workplace diversity and inclusion

As they say, charity begins at home. The Group nowadays employs more than 800
people (through both direct and indirect employement), from all walks of life and a
spectrum of skill sets. We believe that our assets and finances are only as strong as our
people, and therefore, their happiness and well-being remain of utmost importance.

Over the years, AX Group has always been a strong advocate for workplace diversity,
inclusion and a strong respect for human rights.

We prioritise our employees’ mental health and seek to create a supportive workplace
where people are empowered to bring their best selves to work. In 2021, we have
continued the joint programme with the NGO Richmond Foundation, where
employees can seek professional and confidential help if required, free of charge,
especially following such a difficult time during the pandemic.
More specifically to COVID-19, we have continued to ensure safety in our premises,
through the provision of sanitisers in all our sites, protective desk screens, regular
sanitation of premises as well as the possibility to work remotely whenever possible.

Long-term development of personnel
At AX Group we also believe in the long-term investment of our people, making us
one of the top employers of choice in our markets.
We do so by centring our employment strategy on these key principles:
Attract top talent
Pay fairly
Give the opportunity for our people to grow within the business
Provide adequate training and encourage ongoing learning
Despite a scale down in training due to COVID-19, in 2021, AX Group still managed
to carry out 2,014 hours of training with 389 participants enjoying such programmes.
Through the AX Careers online portal and the AX Academy, the Group aims at
stepping up its recruitment – providing applicants with an understanding of the
values of our Group, whilst also training and developing the employees in their jobs
to ensure longer retainment of our personnel.
We also show our appreciation and gratitude towards employees who have given their
unwavering service to the company over the years, during the AX Group’s Annual Long
Service Employee Awards Night. After the cancellation of the 2020 ceremony due to
COVID-19, the awards were reintroduced in 2021, celebrating over 70 employees from
the four different divisions of the group, being recognised for their commitment and
long service with the company ranging between 5 -35 years.
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The Group has long been embracing multiculturalism, with c. 580 of our 800+
workforce being foreigners, with many coming from outside the EU. We understand
that this multicultural pool of staff brings new opportunities, more talent and a wider
perspective to the entire Group.
Moreover, the Group is also aiming at creating greater inclusion and equal
representation at management level, having the Executive team being composed of
5 women and 6 men, whilst the Board still being composed of 2 females and 5 males.

Entrepreneurship
Our mission statement clearly outlines our passion for entrepreneurship. “At AX
Group we strive to leverage our entrepreneurial skills to deliver high-quality innovative
developments. This is achieved by inspiring our people to learn from our past, and to
embrace the future with courage and optimism.” As a Group we aim to not only
develop our personnel to reach their potential professionally, but we also aim to
embrace and push the entrepreneurial community in Malta.
This has also been recognised by the business community through the recently
awarded ‘Lifelong Achiever Award 2021’ during the Annual Malta Stock Exchange
Awards Dinner, recognising our founder’s lifetime journey, entrepreneurial successes,
and contribution to the Maltese economy.

AX Care
One of our business activities relates to the provision of Care. We believe that through
this service we are providing our elderly with high-quality care, safety and a fulfilling
environment they deserve, hence promoting active ageing and improving quality of
life.
Through our “village within a village” concept in Naxxar, we provide our elderly a
self-contained village environment enabling them to continue their day-to-day lives
as normally as possible, through features such as pools, a chapel, a restaurant and
other day-to-day amenities. Going forward, we will continue to ensure that a sense of
community is kindled within our ‘village’ through further event organization.
Moreover, through our Simblija home we offer tailor-made packages depending on
the needs of our elderly, including respite, convalescence, and palliative treatments.
Our facilities also include St. Anthony’s Clinic and Revive, which is our physio- and
hydro-therapy clinic.
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UPHOLD GOOD GOVERNANCE

AX Foundation and other community initiatives

As a large, listed company, AX Group has the necessary corporate governance
structures in places, including in all of our subsidiaries. In 2021, we have also focused
specifically on the creation of necessary structures and committees for the new
listed subsidiary AX Real Estate p.l.c.

Outside of the Group, we also take great pride in our community investment
initiatives and charitable initiatives. The Group has relaunched the AX Foundation
with a particular focus on helping people living with learning invisible disabilities,
with its main focus being individuals on the autism spectrum. We have taken steps to
contribute to national policymaking, driving social change, to create a more inclusive
future for all.
In 2021, the first edition of the AX Ability Awards were organised, aimed at advocating
inclusivity, creativity and the ability of people who face invisible challenges, by
celebrating their achievements and awarding their talents, commitments, and efforts.
Ms. Alessia Bonnici, a very talented teenage artist, was the 2021 Award recipient.
The Group has also given a Christmas Gift to all children and families at the Rainbow
Ward at Mater Dei Hospital –the local oncology ward for children. We have also
presented the Ward’s staff with a small token of appreciation for all they do with their
little precious patients.
In December 2021, we have also donated to LifeCycle 2022, a local charitable
organisation that will be embarking on a 2,000km trip from Buenos Aires (Argentina)
to Santiago (Chile) this March in their noble quest to raise funds and awareness in
support of renal patients across Malta and Gozo.
Over the years we continue to raise funds and awareness to help those in need and
support several charities, initiatives and organisations.

Maltese Heritage
As a Group we value our local heritage and over the years we have taken up several
renovation works across Malta, mainly on the bastions and in national museums. This
is also outlined in the mission statement of AX Construction - “Building our future,
restoring our heritage”.
In 2021, we have completed renovation works of the ‘Farsons Brewary’ (which is
a Grade 1 listed Building) and carried out works on the restoration of the Senglea
Bastions, the Gate, Belvedere and ‘Gardjola’. Infrastructural restoration works were
also carried out at the Malta Maritime Museum in Birgu.
Moreover, we are also considering the possibility of creating specific cultural and
gastronomic tours for tourists, providing them with an experience of the local tastes
and lifestyle. These plans have been slowed down due to the pandemic but will
resume once the situation is restored to normality.
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Our internal auditor, who reports regularly to the Audit Committee, also ensures that
all our internal controls are adhered to at all times.

Anti-bribery and corruption
Being one of the Group’s core values, AX Group is committed to comply with local
legislation and has zero-tolerance towards bribery and corruption. We stand by a code
of ethics reflecting the ethical ethos of the Group. This is applicable to all employees
and board members. The code of ethics sets out the principles and necessary controls
to mitigate against bribery and corruption. All Group procedures and policies are
built to ensure that this is achieved and that high ethical standards are maintained.
Through our Academy, we constantly remind our employees about the risks and
obligations associated with bribery and corruption. Cognizant of the reputational
damage, the Group has also set out procedures to ensure that its principal suppliers
operate and comply with local legislation. AX Group is committed to uphold and
enhance its policy against bribery and corruption.

Health and Safety
Due to the nature of certain operations within the Group, including AX Construction,
but not only, health and safety procedures are of utmost importance within our
business. For this reason, we continue integrating Health and Safety within all our
processes, to ensure that both our employees’, as well as our clients’ (be it tourists,
elderly, or any other individual) health is safeguarded.
In relation to our employees, we continue to provide the safety equipment where
necessary and ensure that health and safety measures and processes are made known
to all staff. We have also appointed an independent third party for the verification of
Health and Safety through adequate supervision plans. It is with pleasure that we
announce that in 2021 no major incidents were reported.
Moreover, as already specified, COVID-19 protocols and safety precautions have been
adopted in all our sites to ensure the avoidance of the virus.
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Moving forward, our Group remains adamant to be a catalyst in safeguarding
the environment, whilst giving back to society and withholding the highest
good governance processes. We acknowledge the ever-increasing importance of
sustainability in businesses as well as the greater requests for Environment, Social
and Governance data moving forward, both from regulators, clients and investors
alike.
We thereby commit to continue working on integrating ESG aspects within the
overall strategy of the Group, including the necessary structures and skills to lead
this transition. Moreover, we will ensure that the right level of ESG data is collected
and verified periodically so that future measures and investments are well placed
and conducive to improving our non-financial position along with our financial
position. This will ensure that AX Group is not only a profitable Group but also one
which adds value to the community, whilst respecting the environment in which it
operates, in a just manner.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF ON
18 FEBRUARY 2022 BY:

_____________________ 				__________________________
		
MR ANGELO XUEREB 			MR MICHAEL WARRINGTON
Chairman					
Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The Directors are required by the Companies Act (Chap. 386) to prepare financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
at the end of each financial year and of the profit or loss of the Company for the year
then ended. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors should:

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.97 issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority, AX
Group p.l.c. (the Company) is hereby reporting on the extent of its adoption of “the
Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance” (the Code) previously established
by the Malta Stock Exchange. The Board has reviewed its Corporate Governance
practices and an explanation of how the Principles of Good Governance have been
applied is contained in this report.

-

adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business;
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on the accruals
basis;
value separately the components of asset and liability items; and
report comparative figures corresponding to those of the preceding accounting
period

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and which enable the Directors to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act (Chap. 386). This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Company acts as the ultimate holding company to the AX Group of Companies
and does not itself carry on any trading activities other than for the purpose of funding
the Group as and when the demands of its business so requires, and accordingly is
economically dependent on the subsidiaries.
COMPLIANCE
Although the adoption of the Code is not mandatory, the Board has considered the
principles embodied in the Code and has noted the Code’s recommended practices
aimed towards the fulfilment of these same principles. The Board has also taken into
account the nature of the Company’s structure, business activities and operations
and in the light of such considerations it has formulated the view that the Company
was generally in compliance with the Code throughout the period.
THE BOARD
The Board of Directors of AX Group p.l.c. (the Board) is currently made up of seven
Directors, three of whom are completely independent from the Company or any
related Group Company. Pursuant to generally accepted practices, as well as the
Company’s Articles of Association, the appointment of Directors to the Board is
reserved exclusively to the Company’s shareholders.
The present Directors are Mr Angelo Xuereb, Ms Denise Micallef Xuereb, Ms Claire
Zammit Xuereb, Mr Josef Formosa Gauci, Mr Christopher Paris, Mr John Soler and
Mr Michael Warrington. Messrs Formosa Gauci, Paris and Soler are independent
Directors in that they have no involvement or relationship with the Company or with
the majority shareholder.
Mr Angelo Xuereb has been appointed as Chairman of the Board and Mr Michael
Warrington as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
The Board acknowledges its statutory mandate to conduct the administration and
management of the Company. The Board’s functions are governed by Chapter 5 of
the Listing Rule and the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed entities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE CONTINUED
THE BOARD - CONTINUED
The Board is also responsible for ensuring that the Company installs and operates
effective internal control and management information systems and that it
communicates effectively with the market.
The Board met seven times during the year under review. The Board has a formal
schedule of matters reserved to it for decision. Directors receive board and committee
papers 10 days in advance of meetings and have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. Directors may, in the furtherance of their duties, take
independent professional advice on any matter at the Company’s expense.
The Company, due to its continuous oversight and communication with its
shareholders, has not established a committee chaired by a non-executive Director
in order to carry out a performance evaluation of its role.
AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Committee is chaired by Mr John Soler, and its other members are Mr Josef
Formosa Gauci and Mr Christopher Paris. All three Directors forming the audit
committee are non-executive Directors and are totally independent from the
Company or the AX Group of Companies. Mr Josef Formosa Gauci is considered by
the Board to be competent in accounting and auditing in terms of the Listing Rules.
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the committee which also receives the
assistance of the Group Chief Executive Officer; Mr Michael Warrington, and the Chief
Financial Officer; Mr Albert Bonello.
The Audit Committee met six times during the year under review.
REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration and Nomination Committee (the “RemNom Committee”) is
composed of Mr Josef Formosa Gauci (Chairperson), Mr Christopher Paris and Mr
John Soler, all of which are independent non-executive Directors.

In its function as nominations committee, the RemNom Committee is charged with
enhancing the quality of nominees to the Board and ensuring the integrity of the
nominating process, and with proposing the remuneration package of Directors and
senior executives of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The RemNom Committee met one time during the year under review.
DEALINGS BY DIRECTORS AND SENIOR OFFICERS
Conscious of its responsibility for monitoring dealings by Directors and senior officers
in the Company’s securities, the Board approved a Code of Conduct for Securities
Transactions by Directors, Executives and Employees in compliance with Listing Rules
5.102 to 5.116. The code provides guidance to the Company’s officers and serves as a
minimum standard of good practice when dealing in the Company’s securities.
During the year under review, there were no transactions in the Company’s securities
involving Directors or any of the Company’s employees in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information.
INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness. However, such a system is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve objectives, and can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
A policy is in place, laying down the minimum required reports that should be made
available to the Board in order to keep it informed in a structured and systematic
manner on the operational and financial performance of the Company.
INSTITUTIONAL SHAREHOLDERS
The Company is privately held and has no institutional shareholders.

In its function as remuneration committee, the RemNom Committee is charged with
the oversight of the remuneration policies implemented by the Group with respect
to its senior management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE –
CONTINUED
RISK IDENTIFICATION

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Management is responsible for the identification and evaluation of key risks applicable
to their areas of business. Risks may be associated with a variety of internal or
external sources including control breakdowns, disruption in information systems,
competition, natural catastrophe and regulatory requirements.

The Company is conscious of its responsibility towards the society in which it
operates. It promotes environmentally friendly measures such as the reduction in the
Company’s carbon footprint as well as encourages its employees to lead a healthy
and active lifestyle.

The Board is responsible to review its risk management policies and strategies and
oversee their implementation to ensure that identified operational risks are properly
assessed and managed.

Furthermore, the AX Foundation, which is the charitable arm of the Group, is devoted
to supporting people living with invisible disabilities, with its primary focus being
on the autism spectrum. AX Foundation was originally founded in 2006 to provide
support to people who are going through social, mental or physical difficulties. Along
the years AX Foundation has supported numerous other NGOs.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Board determines the remuneration of the Directors. The Directors’ and senior
executives’ annual remuneration for the financial year under review, as approved by
the Board, amounted to EUR743,359. This is a fixed remuneration and there are no
variable elements or share options included. For the purposes of clarity, although
several directors sit on various committees of the Company, such directors did not
receive extra remuneration for occupying such roles during the year under review.

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SIGNED ON ITS BEHALF ON
18 FEBRUARY 2022 BY:

COMMITMENT TO MAINTAIN AN INFORMED MARKET

_____________________ 				__________________________
		
MR ANGELO XUEREB 			MR MICHAEL WARRINGTON
Chairman					
Chief Executive Officer

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a dialogue with its
stakeholders to ensure that its strategies and performance are understood. The
Company communicates with stakeholders by way of the Annual Report and
Financial Statements and by publishing its results on a six-monthly basis during the
year, and through company announcements to the market in general.
The Board has also implemented an Investor Relations Program, which aims at
giving Bondholders rewards to be used within the Group to foster loyalty. This
program, which is managed by AX Group p.l.c. executives, includes the issue of the
AX Investments Platinum Card and the AX Group Gold and Platinum Cards and the
periodic dissemination of the AX Investments Newsletter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AX GROUP P.L.C.
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

Basis for Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of AX Group
p.l.c. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), set on pages 85 to 135, which
comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31
October 2021, and the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive
income, the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and the
consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs”) and the Companies Act. Our responsibilities under those standards and
under the Companies Act are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Group and the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) as
issued by the International Ethics Standards Board of Accountants (IESBA Code)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for
Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act, Cap.
281 of the Laws of Malta, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Company as
at 31 October 2021, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the EU (“IFRS”) and the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta
(the “Companies Act”).

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited. Registered in Malta No: C30252
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AX GROUP P.L.C.
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud.
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed
the matter is provided in that context.
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report, including in relation
to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying financial statements.

Going concern
As required by International Financial Reporting Standards and as disclosed in
the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Directors are required to adopt

the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will continue in business
in the foreseeable future.
As disclosed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated and separate financial statements, based
on the Group’s budget and forecast, the Directors confirm that they are satisfied
that the Group will be able to meet its working capital commitments and assess
that the Group has sufficient liquidity to meet all its obligations when and as they
fall due in the foreseeable future. Given the nature of the Company and its function
within the Group of which it is the ultimate parent, the Company is dependent on
the Group for financial support.
At the time of approving these financial statements, the Directors have determined
that there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have
adequate resources to continue in operation and existence for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
these consolidated and separate financial statements.
The COVID-19 pandemic is of an unprecedented scale and has severely impacted
the global economy and businesses across different industries. In the light of the
persistence of this global outbreak, an overall lower economic activity and travel
restrictions have created an uncertain environment which may impact significant
assumptions that are used in the Group’s assessment of its ability to continue as a
going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited. Registered in Malta No: C30252
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AX GROUP P.L.C.
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud – continued

Going concern - continued
from sales of property, capital expenditures, debt financing and
other funding availability against our understanding of the business
and
industry
developments,
historical
data
and
any
other
available information.

The Group’s liquidity forecast underlying the going concern assessment is subject to
significant estimation and therefore represents a key audit matter.
Our audit procedures included evaluating the Directors’ going concern assessment
in order to assess whether there are events and conditions that exist that create
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt of the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. In obtaining sufficient, appropriate audit evidence we:

-

Performed
an
independent
sensitivity
analysis,
stress-testing
key inputs, assumptions and contingency plan to assess whether
the
liquidity
headroom
calculations
are
reasonable.

-

Obtained the Group’s cash flow forecast for the period subsequent to the
reporting date up until April 2023 and discussed these with management,
focusing on updates made to respond to the continued impacts and
uncertainties around COVID-19 ongoing developments and expected
recovery period. We also tested the arithmetical accuracy of the forecast.

-

-

Evaluated the Directors’ ability to accurately forecast by comparing
actual to historical information. As part of our procedures on events after the
reporting period, obtained an understanding of the precision of
management’s forecast and to identify any potential management bias
included in such projections.

Performed an analysis of the capital expenditure forecasted by the Group
to be incurred on its major development projects and the availability of
funding to finance such expenditure from the AX Real Estate p.l.c.’s
equity and debt issue during February 2022 and other planned bank
financing for these projects.
We have assessed for reasonableness
the net cashflows forecasted on these major development projects, taking
into consideration the terms of the equity and debt issue as per the
Offering Memorandum and bank sanction letter for additional financing.

-

We also assessed the relevance and adequacy of disclosures relating to going
concern presented in Note 2.1 to the accompanying financial statements.

Assessed for reasonableness of the main inputs and assumptions
used in the projections, such as operational cash flows, inflows
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud – continued

Fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties
The Group’s land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, which
are being further described in Notes 5.16, 6 and 17 to the accompanying financial
statements, account for 65% of total assets as at 31 October 2021. Land and buildings
are measured at fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
The Group also holds investment properties, which are being further described in
Notes 5.17, 6 and 18 to the accompanying financial statements, accounting for 13% of
total assets of the Group as at 31 October 2021. Investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date.
The Group uses the services of professional qualified and independent valuers
or surveyors to revalue the land and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment, and the investment properties, on the basis of assessments of the fair
value of the property in accordance with international valuation standards and best
practice. The valuations are arrived at by a combination of the income capitalization

approach, the replacement cost approach and the market approach as applicable.
In the years where a valuation is not obtained, management verifies all major inputs
to the independent valuation report, assesses any property valuation movements
when compared to the previous valuation report and holds discussions with the
independent valuer, as necessary.
The valuation of property at fair value is highly dependent on estimates and
assumptions such as:
the capitalisation rate, rental income and respective growth rate under the
income capitalisation approach;
-

the estimated land value and going rates for construction, finishing, 		
services and fittings under the replacement cost approach; and

-

the market prices for comparable advertised properties under the 		
market approach.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Key audit matters incorporating the most significant risks of material misstatements,
including assessed risk of material misstatements due to fraud – continued

Fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties – continued
Therefore, due to the significance of the balances and the estimation uncertainty
involved in the fair valuation of properties, we have considered the fair valuation of
land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, and investment
properties as a key audit matter.
Our audit procedures over the fair valuation of land and buildings classified as
property, plant and equipment, and investment properties included amongst others:
evaluating the design and implementation of key controls over the Group’s
property valuation process by inquiring with the valuation process owners;
-

performing tests relating to the valuation of the Group’s property, focusing
on management reviews over the property valuations by inspecting
management analysis and minutes of meetings of the board and
audit committee where such valuation was discussed;

-

obtaining an understanding of the scope of work of the professional
valuers by reviewing the available valuation reports and considered
the independence and expertise thereof;

-

including a valuation specialist on our team to assist us in assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation approaches applied, as well as
evaluating the reasonability and validity of key assumptions and
estimates used in the valuations by comparing to independent
sources
and
relevant
market
data
and
conditions;
and

-

performing procedures over the accuracy and completeness of the inputs
used in the valuations in the light of our understanding of the business
and industry developments, historical data and other available information
focusing on updates made to respond to the continued impact and
uncertainties around COVID-19 ongoing developments and expected
recovery period.

We also assessed the relevance and adequacy of disclosures relating to the Group’s
fair valuation of land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties presented in Notes 5.16, 5.17, 6, 17 and 18 to the accompanying
financial statements.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon other than our reporting
on other legal and regulatory requirements.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the directors and those charged with governance for the
financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and the requirements of the Companies Act
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the
Company’s financial reporting process.
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Report on the audit of the financial statements
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

•

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and Company to
cease to continue as a going concern;

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation;

•

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and
Company’s internal control;
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements - continued
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act
Directors’ report
We are required to express an opinion as to whether the directors’ report has been
prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements. In our opinion the
directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act.

In addition, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we are required
to report if we have identified material misstatements in the Directors’ report. We
have nothing to report in this regard.
Other requirements
We also have responsibilities under the Companies Act to report if in our opinion:
•
proper accounting records have not been kept;
•
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records;
•
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

Appointment
We were appointed as the statutory auditor by the General Meeting of Shareholders
of the Company on 28 October 2020. The total uninterrupted engagement period
as statutory auditor, including previous renewals and reappointments amounts to 2
years.
Consistency with the additional report to the audit committee
Our audit opinion on the financial statements expressed herein is consistent with
the additional report to the audit committee of the Company which was issued on
the same date as this report.
Non-audit services
No prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 18A(1) of the Accountancy
Profession Act, Cap. 281 of the Laws of Malta were provided by us to the Group
and the Company and we remain independent of the Group and the Company as
described in the Basis for Opinion section of our report.
No other services besides statutory audit services and services disclosed in the
annual report and in the financial statements, were provided by us to the Group and
the Company and its controlled undertakings.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Matters on which we are required to report by the Listing rules

Corporate governance statement
The Listing Rules issued by the Malta Listing Authority require the directors to
prepare and include in their annual report a statement of compliance providing an
explanation of the extent to which they have adopted the Code of Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and the effective measures that they have taken to ensure
compliance throughout the accounting period with those Principles.
The Listing Rules also require the auditor to include a report on the statement of
compliance prepared by the directors. We are also required to express an opinion
as to whether, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have identified
material misstatements with respect to the information referred to in Listing Rules
5.97.4 and 5.97.5.
We read the statement of compliance and consider the implication for our report if
we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements included in the annual report. Our responsibilities do not
extend to considering whether this statement is consistent with the other information
included in the annual report.
We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control included in the statement of compliance cover all risks and controls,
or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.

In our opinion:
•
•

the corporate governance statement set out on pages 72 to 74 has been properly
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules issued by the
Malta Listing Authority
in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
and its environment obtained in the course of the audit the information referred
to in Listing Rules 5.97.4 and 5.97.5 are free from material misstatement

Under the Listing Rules we also have the responsibility to:
•

review the statement made by the Directors, set out on page 66, that the business
is a going concern, together with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

___________________________
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is
Christopher Balzan for and on behalf of
Ernst & Young Malta Limited
Certified Public Accountants
18 February 2022
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Group

Notes

Company

Group

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Revenue

8

35,418,160

28,715,967

10,848,440

333,333

Other operating income

9

387,474

340,528

42,708

-

Operating costs

13

(17,423,517)

(12,858,782)

(2,374,882)

(136,880)

Staff costs

10

(11,702,298)

(13,577,524)

(1,673,110)

-

17, 19

(6,814,538)

(7,087,334)

(329,628)

-

Gain on revaluation of
investment properties

18

4,964,812

-

1,532,855

-

Gain on disposal of
investment in subsidiary

20

-

-

46,017,445

-

Depreciation

Operating profit/(loss)

4,830,093

(4,467,145)

54,063,828

196,453

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

Notes

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

16

1.66

(6.77)

Gain/(loss) on property
revaluations

17

16,588,946

(14,921,966)

-

-

Taxation

15

1,580,743

1,532,062

-

-

18,169,689

(13,389,904)

-

20,097,967

(21,279,634)

53,091,999

19,993,271

(21,236,374)

104,696

(43,260)

20,097,967

(21,279,634)

Basic earnings/(loss) per
share

Other comprehensive
income
Other comprehensive
income that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

Other comprehensive
income/(loss) net of tax

Share of results of associates
and joint ventures

20

541,268

(320,665)

-

-

Finance income

11

28,058

61

12,993

846,868

Finance costs

12

(3,944,271)

(3,441,854)

(2,361,945)

(749,075)

1,455,148

(8,229,603)

51,714,876

294,246

473,130

339,873

1,377,123

(7,090)

Non-controlling interest

1,928,278

(7,889,730)

53,091,999

287,156

Total comprehensive
income/(loss)

Total comprehensive
income/(loss)

287,156

Attributable to:
Profit/(loss) before taxation
15

Taxation

Profit/(loss) for the year

Owners of the parent

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

1,823,582

(7,846,470)

104,696

(43,260)

1,928,278

(7,889,730)

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

The notes on pages 91 to 135 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Group

Notes

Company

Group

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Notes

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Non-current liabilities

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets

Trade and other payables

25

13,299,808

13,903,041

128,788

-

Property, plant and
equipment

17

268,545,869

250,054,604

1,298,248

-

Bank borrowings

26

14,939,199

7,192,376

-

-

Investment properties

18

48,445,539

75,646,399

5,250,000

-

Other financial liabilities

27

-

-

30,021,228

-

Right-of-use assets

19

-

-

4,945,553

-

Debt securities in issue

28

63,956,123

63,856,761

24,689,873

24,662,214

Inventories

21

23,195,407

-

-

-

Non-current lease liabilities

19

-

-

4,869,126

-

Investment in subsidiaries

20

-

-

30,461,427

1,655,298

Deferred tax liabilities

29

Loans receivable

20

1,730,318

-

113,797,663

27,333,237

Investments in associates
and joint ventures

20

7,401,701

6,512,096

-

-

349,318,834

332,213,099

155,752,891

28,988,535

22,285,687

24,695,346

502,499

-

114,480,817

109,647,524

60,211,514

24,662,214

Total liabilities

136,956,569

131,208,816

93,398,706

26,586,870

Net assets

237,142,681

217,448,572

78,304,304

2,561,734

EQUITY

Current assets
Inventories

21

3,509,837

4,968,461

762,466

-

Trade and other receivables

22

10,228,300

8,247,536

10,231,282

2,370

843,882

1,041,232

644,270

-

5,911,979

2,187,060

25,683

157,699

20,493,998

16,444,289

11,663,701

160,069

4,286,418

-

4,286,418

-

374,099,250

348,657,388

171,703,010

29,148,604

Current tax asset
Cash at bank and in hand

Investment property held
for sale

23

18

Total assets

Share capital

30

1,164,688

1,164,688

1,164,688

1,164,688

Revaluation reserve

30

209,425,003

185,890,949

4,392,929

-

Other reserves

30

616,095

616,095

285,342

-

Retained earnings

30

25,224,212

28,764,995

72,461,345

1,397,046

236,429,998

216,436,727

78,304,304

2,561,734

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

712,683

1,011,845

-

-

237,142,681

217,448,572

78,304,304

2,561,734

The notes on pages 91 to 135 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

25

13,684,744

13,410,560

2,987,024

5,274

Bank borrowings

26

6,474,023

5,375,904

1,142

-

Other financial liabilities

27

-

454,620

29,311,407

1,162,357

Debt securities in issue

28

2,316,985

2,320,208

746,712

749,935

Current lease liabilities

19

-

-

140,907

-

-

-

-

7,090

22,475,752

21,561,292

33,187,192

1,924,656

Current tax liabilities

Capital and reserves

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

The financial statements on pages 85 to 135 were approved by the Directors on 18 February
2022 and were signed on its behalf by

__________________________
MR ANGELO XUEREB			
Chairman				

__________________________
MR MICHAEL WARRINGTON
Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Group

Share
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Attributable to
equity
holders of
the parent

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

1,164,687

200,861,644

616,095

35,364,007

238,006,433

1,109,005

239,115,438

Loss for the year

-

-

-

(7,846,470)

(7,846,470)

(43,260)

(7,889,730)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

-

(13,389,904)

-

-

(13,389,904)

-

(13,389,904)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

-

(13,389,904)

-

(7,846,470)

(21,236,374)

(43,260)

(21,279,634)

Increase in share capital

1

-

-

-

1

-

1

Dividends paid (Note 31)

-

-

-

(333,333)

(333,333)

(53,900)

(387,233)

Fair value movement of investment properties, net of tax

-

(1,580,791)

-

1,580,791

-

-

-

1,164,688

185,890,949

616,095

28,764,995

216,436,727

1,011,845

217,448,572

Profit for the year

-

-

-

1,823,582

1,823,582

104,696

1,928,278

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

-

18,169,689

-

-

18,169,689

-

18,169,689

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

18,169,689

-

1,823,582

19,993,271

104,696

20,097,967

Loss of control of a subsidiary

-

-

-

-

-

(403,858)

(403,858)

Fair value movement of investment properties, net of tax

-

5,364,365

-

(5,364,365)

-

-

-

1,164,688

209,425,003

616,095

25,224,212

236,429,998

712,683

237,142,681

At 31 October 2019

At 31 October 2020

At 31 October 2021
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY – CONTINUED
Company

At 31 October 2019

Profit for the year

Share
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

1,164,687

-

-

1,443,223

2,607,910

-

-

-

287,156

287,156

-

-

287,156

287,156

Total comprehensive income for the year
Increase in share capital

1

-

-

-

1

Dividends paid

-

-

-

(333,333)

(333,333)

1,164,688

-

-

1,397,046

2,561,734

-

-

-

53,091,999

53,091,999

-

-

53,091,999

53,091,999

At 31 October 2020

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
Fair value movement of investment properties, net of tax

-

1,410,226

-

(1,410,226)

-

Effect of merger (Note 3)

-

2,982,703

285,342

19,382,526

22,650,571

1,164,688

4,392,929

285,342

72,461,345

78,304,304

At 31 October 2021

The notes on pages 91 to 135 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS
Group

Notes

Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

(4,909,990)

(4,311,537)

(925,023)

-

Cash flows from investing
activities

Cash flows from operating
activities
1,455,148

(8,229,603)

51,714,876

294,246

6,814,538

7,087,334

329,628

-

-

-

(10,110,769)

-

(541,268)

320,665

-

(4,964,812)

-

-

Expected credit loss
Issue cost amortization

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Notes

Company

Adjustments for:

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment
Payments to acquire
investment properties

(1,814,934)

(16,341,636)

(23,485)

-

Acquisition of financial assets

-

-

(48,800)

-

-

Movement in loan to
subsidiary

-

-

- (25,278,974)

(1,532,855)

-

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

(6,724,924) (20,653,173)

(997,308) (25,278,974)

-

(46,017,445)

-

Cash flows from financing
activities

87,304

(5,273)

121,896

42,839

Movement in a new bank
loan

8,998,253

(4,382,339)

-

-

99,362

94,345

27,659

32,016

Movement on other loans

(1,354,620)

(74,685)

-

-

Interest expense

3,944,271

3,441,854

2,361,945

749,075

Interest income

(28,058)

-

(12,993)

(846,868)

Proceeds from debt
securities in issue

-

24,613,720

-

25,000,000

Payment of debt securities in
issue costs

-

(369,802)

-

(369,802)

6,866,485

2,709,322

(3,118,058)

271,308

Payment of lease liabilities

-

-

(263,333)

-

1,378,306

(1,913,540)

-

-

Dividends paid to minority
interest

-

(53,900)

-

-

Movement in trade and
other receivables

(2,431,579)

4,664,873

(2,376,909)

17,630

Dividends paid

Movement in trade and
other payables

1,234,623

Cash flows from
operating activities

7,047,835

5,037,738

3,355,782

701,491

(3,900,262)

(3,441,854)

(2,241,292)

(749,075)

-

-

12,993

846,868

Taxation paid

(188,052)

(2,183,985)

-

7,090

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities

2,959,521

(588,101)

1,127,483

806,374

Depreciation
Dividend declared
Share of results of associates
and joint ventures
Movement in fair value of
investment properties
Gain on disposal of
investment in subsidiaries

Operating profit/(loss) before
working capital changes
Movement in inventories

Interest paid
Interest received

(422,917)
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8,850,749

412,553

-

(233,333)

-

-

Net cash flows from/
(used in) financing activities

7,643,633

19,499,661

(263,333)

24,630,198

Net movement in cash and
cash equivalents

3,878,230

(1,741,613)

(133,158)

157,598

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

(166,501)

1,575,112

157,699

101

3,711,729

(166,501)

24,541

157,699

Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year

23
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STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS - CONTINUED
The Group and the Company engaged in the following significant non-cash investing
and financing activities during the year:
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

-

-

5,934,314

-

-

-

83,695,921

-

Effect of loss of control of
subsidiary

1,129,173

-

-

-

Additional investment in
subsidiaries

-

-

1,962,993

-

830,318

-

-

-

Notes
Non-cash investing activities
Assets taken over upon
merger
Proceeds upon disposal of
subsidiaries

Sale of inventory to related
parties

3
20

20

Non-cash financing activities
Investment in subsidiaries
taken over upon merger

3

-

-

71,071,612

-

Dividend declared by
subsidiary

8

-

-

10,110,769

-

Sale of investment in
subsidiaries

20

-

-

(37,678,476)

-

Reduction in capital
contribution

20

-

-

(6,600,000)

-

Addition/(reduction) of
loans to related parties

20

900,000

(457,228)

12,701,083

-

(402,131)

-

-

-

Effect of loss of control of
subsidiary

The notes on pages 91 to 135 form an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

AX Group p.l.c. (C 12271) is a public limited liability company incorporated in Malta.
The Company is the parent company of the Group, which is mainly involved in the
provision of hospitality and entertainment services, healthcare services, construction
and property development. The Company’s registered office is at AX Group, AX
Business Centre, Triq id-Difiza Civili, Mosta, MST 1741, Malta.
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the
requirements of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta.
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and land and buildings which are stated at fair value.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the
EU requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the Directors
to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies. Significant accounting policies are disclosed in Note 5 and accounting
estimates are disclosed in Note 6.
These financial statements are presented in Euro (EUR) which is the Group and the
Company’s functional currency. The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
2.1

GOING CONCERN

As at 31 October 2021, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
EUR1,981,754 (2020: EUR5,117,003) whereas the Group’s total assets exceeded its total
liabilities by EUR237,142,681 (2020: EUR217,448,572). The current liabilities position
as at 31 October 2021 include a balance of EUR1,488,203 (2020 EUR2,330,167) that
represents deferred income which does not have an impact on the Group’s liquidity.

Management has concluded that as a result of the strength of the Group’s financial
position and the measures being taken by management to address and mitigate the
impact of the COVID–19 pandemic, the Group will be able to sustain its operations
over the foreseeable future in a manner that is cash flow positive. Accordingly, based
on information available at the time of approving these financial statements the
Directors have reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company will meet
all its obligations as and when they fall due over the foreseeable future and therefore,
that the going concern basis adopted for the preparation of these consolidated and
separate financial statements is appropriate.

Business update
2021 was another year characterised by various disruptions brought about by the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Group’s main operating divisions have on various levels
continued to suffer from the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Notwithstanding the negative impact, the Hospitality division remains the largest
business division within the AX Group. The closure of restaurants and non-essential
shops imposed by the local authorities on the 5 March 2021 continued to negatively
impact the performance of the Group’s hospitality division. In May 2021, following
the rapid vaccination programme, the local health authorities announced that Malta
had achieved herd immunity which in turn led to the gradual easing of a number
of restrictions. Throughout the summer months, the hotels experienced a steady
but gradual increase in both turnover and operating profit when compared to
2020. This trajectory continued throughout all of 2021 although in December 2021,
the performance was dampened by the surge in cases following the new Omicron
variant of Covid 19.

As at 31 October 2021, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
EUR21,523,491 (2020: EUR 1,764,587). Given the nature of the Company and its function
within the Group of which it is the ultimate parent company (“the Company” or “the
ultimate parent”), the Company is dependent on the Group for financial support.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - CONTINUED

2.1

GOING CONCERN - CONTINUED

Business update – continued
During the year, the development division completed the mixed-use development
at Targa Gap in Mosta and the Falcon House development in Sliema. The residential
apartments at Targa Gap have almost all been sold or rented out. Part of the offices
at ground floor level were rented out with the remaining office space contracted with
third parties for a 10-year lease. All apartments at Falcon House have been sold during
the year except one apartment which was sold after year end. In addition, in 2021,
the Group obtained a full development permit for the redevelopment of the Verdala
site in Rabat, and another full development permit for the extension of the Suncrest
Hotel in Qawra. Construction works on both projects started during the financial year
under review.

gain on revaluation of investment properties and depreciation on the Statement of
Profit or Loss. During the year, the Group achieved a positive EBITDA of EUR 6,679,819
(2020: EBITDA of EUR 2,620,189). This result is attributable to several factors:

The performance of the Care division was to a lesser extent, impacted by various
restrictions and measures imposed by the health authorities throughout the year.
The independent units at Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village were almost fully
occupied throughout the year whilst the Group experienced challenges in achieving
the budgeted occupancy at the Simblija Care Home. Additional operational costs
were incurred due to the precautionary measures that were taken to safeguard the
residents at Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village and the Simblija Care Home.

b.

The Construction division was not materially affected by the pandemic and continued
to operate with little disruption.
The AX Group’s investment in Valletta Cruise Port p.l.c. remained heavily impacted by
the pandemic. Following the restrictions imposed on 5 March 2021, the retail outlets,
bars and restaurants at the Valletta Waterfront were closed in accordance with the
restrictions imposed by the Health Authorities. However, following the gradual easing
of restrictions, business picked up in the summer months and operating profitability
more than doubled in 2021 compared to 2020.

Profitability
During the year, the Group experienced an increase in revenue of 23% over the
previous year and has reported a profit before tax of EUR 1,455,148 (2020: Loss before
tax of EUR 8,229,603). Despite the impact of the pandemic on profitability, the Group
managed to significantly improve performance over the prior year. One performance
measure used by the Group is Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and
Amortisation (“EBITDA”), which reconciles to the Group’s operating profit/(loss) before
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a.

Focus on property development

As mentioned above, once the pandemic hit, the Group shifted its focus on
developing and finishing two development projects- Targa Gap in Mosta and
Falcon House in Sliema. During the year, the developments were finished, and most
units were sold or rented out, significantly contributing to the Group’s profitability.
Management’s quick response						

Management continued to adapt and respond to the changing circumstances
by being pro-active and agile. Following the easing of restrictions in June
2021, Malta experienced an unparalleled labour shortage across all division,
primarily in the hospitality division. Management responded to this crisis by
moving personnel from other divisions to ensure a smooth operation with
minimal disruption. Other measures to curtail both operational and capital
expenditure remained key to minimise operational losses and preserve cash.
c.

Internal operating structures

The decision taken last year to reorganise and centralise various administrative
functions within the Group was crucial. During the year, the Group managed
to launch the centralisation of various accounting processes, the procurement
function and the payroll function. Apart from ensuring a streamlined process
across these functions, this strategy has ensured a leaner structure and
yielded economies of scale and cost efficiencies. The Group is now looking at
opportunities to extend this strategy to a number of other administrative processes.
d.

Government support

A key element supporting the ability to operate at these low levels is the
Government wage supplement. During the year under review the AX Group received
EUR2,318,830 (2020: EUR1,629,944) in assistance from Malta Enterprise under the
Wage Supplement Scheme (Note 10).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - CONTINUED

2.1

GOING CONCERN - CONTINUED

Liquidity
During the year, management took various steps to retain a high level of liquidity in
line with the Group’s policy. As at reporting date, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of EUR27,412,974 (2020: EUR29,079,844) of which EUR6,011,835 (2020:
EUR15,880,407) were undrawn banking facilities. During the financial year, the Group
has availed itself of various bank loan repayment moratoriums with its’ bankers.
Despite the increase in gearing, the Group still retains a low gearing ratio of 30.8%
as at reporting date. The low gearing coupled with the healthy relationship that the
Group enjoys with local banks places the Group in a good position should it need to
raise further funding through bank loans.
In order to finance the Suncrest and Verdala Hotel developments, the Group went
through a reorganisation exercise, with the ultimate aim of consolidating the main
property letting activities of the Group into one newly formed division under AX
Real Estate p.l.c. In February 2022, AX Group managed to successfully list AX Real
Estate p.l.c. on the Malta Stock Exchange, with 25% of the ordinary A shares being
taken up by the general public. Through this transaction, AX Real Estate p.l.c. raised
EUR13,645,644. In conjunction with the share issue, AX Real Estate p.l.c. also issued
EUR40million unsecured bonds redeemable in 2032. The general public subscribed
to EUR18,354,600 bonds whilst the remaining EUR21,645,400 bonds were allocated by
AX Real Estate p.l.c. to the Company through the part conversion of the existing intragroup loan with AX Real Estate p.l.c. It is the intention of AX Group p.l.c. to dispose
of the allocated bonds at the opportune time to ascertain sufficient liquidity for the
Suncrest and Verdala hotel developments. As disclosed in Note 38, subsequent to
year end the Group has obtained additional bank financing of EUR15M on this project.

restrictions and regulations, encompassing a gradual recovery following the vaccine
booster roll-out and expected easing of restrictions by the local authorities. The base
case scenario contemplates the benefits of actions already taken by management
to mitigate the trading downsides brought by COVID-19, and cash inflows from the
disposal of an immovable property. Management is in advanced discussions with an
interested third-party buyer and expects the asset to be realized through sale within
the forecast period. The forecast includes the curtailment of capital expenditure
within the hospitality and care divisions whereby only essential capital expenditure
is planned. In addition to the Suncrest and Verdala projects which will be financed
through the raising of funds by AX Real Estate p.l.c., the Group plans to continue
with the development of a limited number of projects that are key to its long-term
strategy.
Management has also considered a stress tested scenario, in which the economy
recovers at a slower pace than forecasted in the base case, with current restrictions
remaining in place for a longer period. Under all scenarios tested, the Group is
expected to continue to have sufficient liquidity relative to the funding available to
it. Management also notes that the absolute majority of the Group’s properties are
unencumbered and could potentially be used as a guarantee in obtaining additional
financing from banks should the need arises.
The Group has also identified a contingency plan should the expected economic
recovery prolong or take a downturn. The Group has earmarked other immovable
property that can be disposed of, as well as the postponement of renovation works
related to an immovable property that the Group is expected to acquire in 2022.

Following the above market transactions, the Group’s projected gearing ratio would
increase to around 36%. This takes into consideration the newly issued bond.

Cashflow Forecast
Management has prepared a forecast for the Group covering eighteen-months from
reporting date in order to assess the impact of the current situation on the businesses.
The assumptions modelled are based on the estimated potential impact of COVID-19
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
3.

AX Holdings Limited
24 March 2021
EUR

LEGAL MERGER

On 10 June 2020 the board of Directors of AX Holdings Limited, a company registered
in Malta and the board of Directors of the Company, approved a Draft Terms of Merger,
whereby AX Holdings Limited (“the company being acquired”) was amalgamated
into the Company. The merger became effective on the 24 March 2021, on which
date AX Holdings Limited was struck off from the Malta Business Registry. The Draft
Terms of Merger stipulated that the transactions of the company being acquired are
accounted for in the annual accounts of the Company as from the effective date, this
being in line to the provisions of article 358 of the Companies Act, Chapter 386 of the
Laws of Malta.

ASSETS

Prior to the merger, the Company owned 100% of the ordinary shares in issue of AX
Holdings Limited. The main business activity of AX Holdings Limited was that of
an intermediate holding company of the Group. As a result of the legal merger, AX
Holdings Limited transferred all its activities to the Company and ceased to operate.

Inventories

No cash payment was made; the legal merger is in substance the redemption by
AX Group p.l.c. of shares in AX Holdings Limited, in exchange for the assets of AX
Holdings Limited. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at the
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements as of the date of the legal
merger, are disclosed below:

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4,652,359

Investment properties

4,550,000

Investment in subsidiaries and associates
Total non-current assets

71,071,612
80,273,971

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

12,466
21,561,363
644,380
8,890
22,227,099
102,501,070

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

615,040

Other financial liabilities

27,694,375

Total current liabilities

28,309,415

Non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

50,758,274
806,223

Total non-current liabilities

51,564,497

TOTAL LIABILITIES

79,873,912

EQUITY
Revaluation reserve
Other reserve
Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY
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2,982,703
285,342
19,359,113
22,627,158
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
4.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of AX
Group p.l.c (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) as at 31 October 2021.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
-

Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee)
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary,
it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To
support this presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or
similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
-

The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
4.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - CONTINUED

These consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries, namely:

Group % of equity
and voting rights held

Group % of preference
shares held

2021

2020

2021

2020

AX Construction Limited

100

100

-

-

AX Contracting Limited

100

100

-

-

AX Finance Limited

100

100

-

-

-

100

-

-

AX Hotel Operations p.l.c.

100

100

-

-

AX Investments p.l.c.

100

100

-

-

AX Port Holding Company Limited

100

100

-

-

AX Port Investments Company Limited

100

100

-

-

Capua Palace Investments Limited

100

100

-

-

-

100

-

100

Central Leisure Developments Limited *

100

100

-

-

Harbour Connections Limited

100

100

-

-

AX Holdings Limited (merged into AX Group p.l.c.)

Central Hotels Limited (merged into Central Leisure Developments Limited)

Hardrocks Estates Limited **

50

51

-

-

Heritage Developments Limited *

100

100

-

-

Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village Limited

100

100

-

-

Hilltop Management Services Limited

100

100

-

-

Holiday Resorts Limited *

100

100

-

-

Luzzu Properties Limited (merged into Suncrest Hotels p.l.c.)

-

100

-

-

AX Business Park Limited

100

100

-

-

Palazzo Merkanti Leisure Limited *

100

100

-

-

Prime Buildings Limited

75

75

-

-

Renewables Limited

100

100

-

-

Royal Hotels Limited *

100

100

-

-

Simblija Developments Limited *

100

100

-

-

Skyline Developments Limited *

100

100

-

-

St. John’s Boutique Hotel Limited *

100

100

-

-

-

100

-

-

Suncrest Hotels p.l.c.*

100

100

-

-

The Waterfront Entertainment Venture Ltd

100

100

-

-

Verdala Mansions Limited

100

100

-

-

AX Real Estate p.l.c.(formerly AX Real Estate Limited)

100

100

-

-

Engage People Limited

100

100

-

-

Verdala Terraces Limited (incorporated on 30 September 2021)

100

-

-

-

Suncrest Finance Limited (merged into AX Finance Limited)
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* AX Group p.l.c. being the ultimate parent company of these
entities through direct ownership of their immediate parent, AX
Real Estates p.l.c.
** The investment in Hardrocks Estates Limited is accounted
as an investment in a joint venture as from 9 September 2021,
following the sale of 1% interest in the company. Following this
sale, the shareholders of Hardrocks Estates Limited hold equal
voting rights and rights for return.
The registered address of all subsidiaries is AX Group, AX Business
Centre, Triq id-Difiza Civili, Mosta MST 1741, Malta.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
5.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied in the
financial statements presented, unless otherwise stated.
5.1

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED 		
STANDARDS ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION EFFECTIVE IN THE
CURRENT YEAR

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial
year, except for the following amendments to IFRS effective during the year:
-

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: COVID-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021 (issued on 31 March 2021)
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS4 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform – Phase 2 (issued on 27 August 2020)
Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 9 (issued on 25 June
2020)

These amendments and interpretations do not have an impact on the financial
statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any standard,
interpretations or amendments that have been issued but are not yet effective.
5.2

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS TO PUBLISHED 		
STANDARDS AS ADOPTED BY THE EU WHICH ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The changes resulting from these standards, interpretations and amendments are
not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements of the Group.
5.3

STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS THAT ARE NOT YET
ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION

These are as follows:
-

-

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current - Deferral of Effective Date (issued on 23 January 2020 and 15 July
2020 respectively)
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice
Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (issued on 12 February 2021)
Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (issued on 12 February 2021)
Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction (issued on 7 May 2021)
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and
IFRS 9 – Comparative Information (issued on 9 December 2021)

The Group is still assessing the impact that these new standards will have on the
financial statements.

Up to date of approval of these financial statements, certain new standards,
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but
which are not yet effective for the current reporting year and which the Group has not
early adopted but plans to adopt upon their effective date. The new and amended
standards follow:
-

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (issued on 18 May 2017); including Amendments to
IFRS 17 (issued on 25 June 2020) (effective for financial year beginning on or after
1 January 2023)
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (All issued 14 May 2020) (effective for financial
year beginning on or after 1 January 2022)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
5.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

5.4

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue includes all revenues from the ordinary business activities of the Group and
is recorded net of value added tax. Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The
Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements.

tenants for definite periods and (ii) revenue from Simblija Care Home consisting of
revenue from stays for short term respite care, convalescence and post-operative
recovery and intensive nursing care to the more dependent elderly residents; and
revenue recognised at a point in time when transferring control of the contracted
service to the customer – related to ancillary services provided at Simblija Care Home
and other amenities.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

iii.

i.
ii.

The Group provides construction related works to its customers. Revenue from
construction works is recognised over time, based on the proportion of works
performed to date. The Directors consider that this input method is an appropriate
measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under IFRS15. The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for
construction works, when a third-party assessor signs off a certificate confirming the
achievement of a milestone.

iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
i.

Sale of goods
Provision of hospitality services primarily accommodation in hotels and boutique
properties and catering services offered by the Group outlets
The provision of accommodation services within a retirement home, independent
living facilities and other ancillary services
Construction, turnkey and restoration works of residential, commercial and
industrial properties
Rental income
Sale of inventory property – completed property and property under development
Sale of goods

The Group, through its subsidiaries, sells food and beverage products and healthcare
items directly to customers through its own outlets. Revenue is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being at the point the customer purchases the
goods at the outlet or property. Customers do not have the right of return and no
warranties are given on the items sold.
ii.

iv.

Provision of services – Construction

Rental income

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not
transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of investment
properties. Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue in
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental
income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term
on the same basis as the lease income.

Provision of services - Hospitality and healthcare

The Group, through various subsidiaries, provides hospitality and healthcare services.
Revenue from hospitality includes revenue from accommodation, foods and beverage
services and other ancillary services. Each of the services rendered is recognised at a
point in time when transferring control of the contracted service to the customer.
Revenue from health care services includes revenue recognised over time on
a systematic basis based on the period consumed as a proportion of the total
contractual period for: (i) revenue from Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village consisting
of revenue from self-catering apartments and penthouses that are occupied by
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5.4

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS - CONTINUED

v.

Sale of inventory property – completed property and property under 		
development

The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the
Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when control transfers.
For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title
transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this generally occurs when all
significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers.
5.5

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group contributes towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation.
The only obligation of the Group is to make the required contributions. Costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
5.6

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised from the time that
expenditure for these assets and borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare these assets for their intended use or sale are in progress.
Borrowing costs are capitalised until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in
the profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
5.7

i) Right-of-use assets
The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease
(i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:
Offices

-

20 years

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Company at the end of the lease
term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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5.8

5.7

LEASES - CONTINUED

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate are
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is initially recognised as deferred
income and subsequently recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected
useful life of the related asset.

ii) Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities
measured at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments)
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
The Company’s lease liabilities are detailed in Note 19.

Group as lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income
arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income due
to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS

5.9

TAXATION

i.

Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially enacted at
the reporting date in the country where the Group operates and generates taxable
income.
Current income tax is charged or credited to profit or loss. Current income tax relating
to items realized directly in equity is realized in equity and not in the statement of profit
or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate.
The charge for current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. The taxable
result for the period differs from the result as reported in profit or loss because it
excludes items which are non-assessable or disallowed and it further excludes items
that are taxable or deductible in other periods.

100

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – CONTINUED
5.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED

5.9

TAXATION - CONTINUED

ii.

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of
temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

Deferred tax liabilities are realized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are realized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be realized.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

-

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable
right to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
5.10

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value
at each balance sheet date.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
-

-

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities
Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value
on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.
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5.11

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the investor has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

Company
Investments in subsidiaries are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the
consideration given, including acquisition charges associated with the investment.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the investments are measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
5.12

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decision of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists
only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

Group
The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are
similar to those necessary to determine control over subsidiaries. The Group’s
investment in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity
method.
Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the
acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for impairment separately. The
statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the
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associate or joint venture after adjustments to align the accounting policies of the
Group, from the date that significant influence commences until the year-ended 31
October 2021.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Groups’ share of losses in an associated
undertaking equals or exceeds its interest in the associated undertaking, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated undertaking.
The use of the equity method should cease from the date that significant influence
ceases.
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary
to recognize an impairment loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture.
At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence
that the investment in associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence,
the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then
recognizes the loss within “Share of profit of associates and joint ventures” in the
statement of profit or loss.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Company
Investments in associates and joint ventures are initially recognised at cost. The
Company subsequently measures the investments in associates and joint ventures
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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5.13

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.
i.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value
through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair
value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) are the most relevant to the
Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:
-

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective
interest rate (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
The Group’s debt instruments at amortised cost includes loans and receivables, trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four
categories:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and
losses (debt instruments)
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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5.13

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

i.

Financial assets – continued

Subsequent measurement – continued
Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and
losses (debt instruments)
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following
conditions are met:
-

The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit
or loss.
The Group holds no financial assets in this category.
Financial assets at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they
meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument by
instrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends
are recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not
subject to impairment assessment.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Specifically:
-

-

Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL. However, a company
may designate an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on
initial recognition.
Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI
criteria are classified as at FVTPL.

In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation
eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on
them on different bases.
Financial assets measured at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses including foreign
exchange gains and losses, recognised in profit or loss.
Where applicable, dividend income is recognised with other dividend income, if any,
arising on other financial assets within the line item ‘Investment income’. Where
applicable, interest income is disclosed within the line item ‘Investment income’. Fair
value gains and losses are recognised within the line items ‘Investment income’ and
‘Investment losses’ respectively.
The Group holds no financial assets in this category.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

i.

Financial assets – continued

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of
similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised when:
-

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement.
ii.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are classified in two
categories:
-

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the
purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in
IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value
through profit or loss.

The Group’s financial liabilities include loans and borrowings and trade and other
payables.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – CONTINUED

ii.

Financial Liabilities – continued

Subsequent measurement – continued
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process.

the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation
is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Under the general approach, the Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
iii.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the
asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next
12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition rather than on evidence of a financial asset being
credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring.
Lifetime ECL represents the ECLs that will result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
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5.14

iii.

Impairment of financial assets – continued

All other assets are tested for impairment in terms of this accounting policy except for
inventory and investment properties measured at fair value.

General approach – continued
The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12-month Probability of Default
(PD), Loss Given Default (LGD), and Exposure at Default (EAD). Lifetime ECL is
calculated on a similar basis for the residual life of the exposure.
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when contractual payments are
90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
For financial assets for which the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering
either the entire outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset is impaired.
Simplified approach
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
iv.

Offsetting of financial instruments

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of assets, including cashgenerating units, is reviewed to determine whether there is any indication or objective
evidence of impairment, as appropriate, and if any such indication or objective
evidence exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.
An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value (which
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date) less
costs of disposal and value in use (which is the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset).
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount, as calculated.
Impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the impairment loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed
the amount in the revaluation surplus for that asset.
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for
any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss has been recognised.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in
the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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5.15

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment other than land and buildings are initially recorded
at cost. These are subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes purchase price and any directly
attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use.
Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising
from derecognition represent the difference between the net disposal proceeds,
if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the period of
derecognition.
Depreciation is provided on the below items, at rates intended to write down the cost
less residual value of the assets over their expected useful lives. The annual rates used,
which are consistent with those applied in the previous year, are as follows:
Improvements				
Furniture, fixtures and fittings		
Computer equipment			
Plant and machinery			

10% per annum
5% - 33% per annum
20% per annum
5% - 20% per annum

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by
reference to their carrying amount and are taken into consideration in determining
the operating profit. The residual useful lives of the assets are reviewed and adjusted
as appropriate, at each financial reporting date. The carrying amount of an asset is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the carrying amount of the
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the asset or recognized as
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
5.16

accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are
made for the entire class of land and buildings and with sufficient regularity such
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be
determined using revaluations at the date of the statement of financial position. Any
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset.
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation is credited to the revaluation
reserve unless it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously
recognised in the profit and loss, in which case, the increase is credited to profit and
loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount
arising on the revaluation is recognised in profit and loss to the extent that it exceeds
the balance, if any, held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation
of that asset.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation surplus to retained earnings is made for
the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the
asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. Additionally, accumulated
depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the
asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the particular asset being
sold is transferred to retained earnings.
Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets are available for use and is
charged to profit or loss so as to write off the cost /revalued amount, less any estimated
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the
following bases:
			Buildings

2%

REVALUATION OF LAND AND BUILDINGS

Land and buildings are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Subsequent to initial recognition, land and buildings
are stated at revalued amount at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
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5.17

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Investment properties are recognized as an asset when it is probable that the
future economic benefits that are associated with the investment properties will flow
to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably.

Property held for development and re-sale is stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost includes the purchase price of the property and development
costs incurred to date. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs,
less impairment losses. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values of investment properties are included in
profit and loss in the period in which they arise, including the corresponding tax
effect. Fair values are determined by a professionally qualified architect/surveyor on
the basis of market values.

The cost of development and common costs are apportioned on the basis of the
costs absorbed during the stage of development and the cost of land is apportioned
on the basis of the floor area.

Investment properties are derecognized either when they have been disposed
of (i.e. at the date the recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal.
The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset is recognized in profit and loss in the period of derecognition. The amount
of consideration to be included in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition
of investment properties is determined in accordance with the requirements for
determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.
Transfers are made to (or from) investment properties only when there is a change in
use. For transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied property, the deemed
cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owneroccupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment
up to the date of change in use.
5.18

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a weighted average cost basis. Net realisable value is the price at which stocks can
be sold in the course of business less anticipated costs of selling. Provision is made
where necessary for obsolete, slow moving and defective stock.
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Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present location and condition includes:
Freehold and leasehold rights for land
Amounts paid to contractors for development
Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, professional fees for legal
services, property transfer taxes, development overheads and other related costs
When an inventory property is sold, the carrying amount of the property is recognised
as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The carrying
amount of inventory property recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference
to the directly attributable costs incurred on the property sold and an allocation of
any other related costs based on the relative size of the property sold.
Inventory properties are classified as non-current when these are expected to be
realised after more than one year from reporting date.
5.19

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand, demand deposits and short
term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
subject to significant risk of changes in value.
For the purpose of the statement of cashflows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash in hand and deposits at banks, net of outstanding overdrafts.
5.20

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Group classifies non-current assets (principally investment properties) and
disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
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5.24

5.20

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - CONTINUED

Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the financial reporting
date and are discounted to present value when the effect is material. Provisions
are reviewed each financial reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale (except for
investment properties measured at fair value) are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs
directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance
costs and income tax expense.
The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable, and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in
its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale should indicate that
it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision
to sell will be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the
asset and the sale is expected to be completed within one year from the date of the
classification.
Investment properties held for sale continues to be measured at fair value. Assets
and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the statement of
financial position.
5.21

LEGAL MERGER

The merger is accounted using the book value method of accounting, whereby the
acquiring company recognises the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements as of the date of the legal
merger, on the effective date as stipulated in the Draft Terms of Merger.
5.22

ORDINARY SHARES

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity.
5.23

5.25

PROVISIONS

RELATED PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be
individuals or corporate entities. Related party accounts are carried at cost, net of any
impairment charge.
6.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Use of available information and
application of judgment are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results
in the future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material
to the financial statements. These estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and, if a
change is needed, it is accounted for in the year the changes become known.
Except for the below, in the opinion of the Directors, the accounting estimates,
assumptions and judgements made in the course of preparing these financial
statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant
their description as significant in terms of the requirements of IAS 1 (revised) ‘Presentation of financial statements’.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends to holders of equity instruments are recognised as liabilities in the period
in which they are declared. Dividends to holders of equity instruments are debited
directly in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND
ASSUMPTIONS - CONTINUED

JUDGEMENTS
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors have made
the following judgements:

Recoverability of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies (note 29).

Deferred tax on revalued land and buildings
The Group’s own-use land and buildings within property, plant and equipment
are measured at revalued amounts under IAS16. In the financial statements of the
property-owning subsidiaries, these land and buildings were classified as investment
property at fair value, and the resulting deferred tax liability was measured on the basis
that the value of these assets will be recovered through sale (rather than through use)
under the rebuttable presumption in IAS12. In Malta, the income tax rate applicable
to benefits generated through operating the asset (recovery through use) is 35%,
while that applicable on sale of property is 8% or 10% on the sales proceeds.
Judgement is required in preparing these consolidated financial statements
to determine whether the Group will recover the value of the land and buildings
through use or through sale, or partially through use and sale. During the current year,
management of the property-owning subsidiaries entered into contracts with other
group subsidiaries for a period of twenty years for the management and operation
of the assets. This is part of a restructuring exercise in line with the updated strategy
of the Group. As a result, the Group has reassessed the expected manner of recovery
of these property, plant and equipment. In making this assessment, management
made an estimation of the amount relating to non-depreciable assets, being
land carried at fair value, where the deferred tax on revaluation assumes recovery
through sale. For the depreciable portion, an estimation of the period over which
management expects to recover the property, plant and equipment through use
was made at twenty years, being the duration of the contract. The remaining balance
beyond the period of use was assumed to be recovered through sale. Prior to the
reorganisation, management made an assumption that it expected to recover the
property, plant and equipment through sale – in the absence of long-term contracts
and in line with the Group’s strategy at that time. Had management estimated
recovering part of the depreciable portion of the property, plant and equipment
through use, the deferred tax recognized would not have been materially different
than the amount actually recognized.
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ESTIMATES
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Fair value of land and buildings and investment properties
The Group uses the services of professional valuers to revalue the land and buildings
and investment properties. The professional valuers take into account market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.
The highest and best use of a non-financial asset takes into account the use of the
asset that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible, as follows:
-

A use that is physically possible, takes into account the physical characteristics
of the asset that market participants would take into account when pricing the
asset (e.g. the location or size of a property).
A use that is legally permissible takes into account any legal restrictions on the
use of the asset that market participants would take into account when pricing
the asset (e.g. the zoning regulations applicable to a property).
A use that is financially feasible takes into account whether a use of the asset
that is physically possible and legally permissible generates adequate income or
cash flows (taking into account the costs of converting the asset to that use) to
produce an investment return that market participants would require from an
investment in that asset put to that use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use
of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. As
described in Note 18, the Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not always based on observable market data in order to estimate the fair value of
land and building and investment properties. Note 18 provides detailed information
regarding these valuation methods and the key assumptions used in performing
such valuations.

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables
The entity applies the simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses
for all trade receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component.
In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed
on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have
been grouped based on the days past due and also according to the geographical
location of customers.
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ESTIMATES - CONTINUED

Recoverability of loans receivable
The Directors have assessed the recoverability of loans receivable by reference to the
cashflow projections of AX Real Estates p.l.c. (“the subsidiary”), including planned
inflows, outflows and available financing facilities. AX Real Estates p.l.c. receives
dividends from its own subsidiaries which, in turn, earn rental income on investment
properties owned and leased to other Group companies and third parties. Moreover,
subsequent to year end (note 38), the subsidiary issued 150,000,000 ordinary ‘B’
shares at a value of EUR0.3334 each in favour of the Company against the partial
capitalisation of EUR50,000,000 from the loan balance receivable by the Company
as at reporting date.
7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its
products and services and has five reportable segments, as follows:
Hospitality
The hospitality segment operates a portfolio of hotel properties located in Valletta,
Sliema and Qawra. Revenue generated by the hospitality operating segment
includes revenue from accommodation, foods and beverage services and other
ancillary services. Each of the services rendered is recognised at a point in time when
transferring control of the contracted service to the customer.
Construction
This operating segment undertakes construction projects with an emphasis on civil
engineering works, turnkey assignments and restoration works, rendering services to
both third party customers as well as companies forming part of the Group. Revenue
from construction works is recognised over time, based on the proportion of works
performed to date. The Directors consider that this input method is an appropriate
measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under IFRS15. The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for
construction works, when a third-party assessor signs off a certificate confirming the
achievement of a milestone.
-

Healthcare

The healthcare operating segment encompasses Hilltop Gardens Retirement Village
and Simblija Care Home, which offer tailor-made packages covering different
levels of long- and short-term care. Revenue generated from health care services
includes revenue recognised over time on a systematic basis based on the period

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

consumed as a proportion of the total contractual period for: (i) revenue from Hilltop
Gardens Retirement Village consisting of revenue from self-catering apartments
and penthouses that are occupied by tenants for definite periods and (ii) revenue
from Simblija Care Home consisting of revenue from stays for short term respite
care, convalescence and post-operative recovery and intensive nursing care to the
more dependent elderly residents; and revenue recognised at a point in time when
transferring control of the contracted service to the customer – related to ancillary
services provided at Simblija Care Home and other amenities.
-

Real Estate & Property Rentals

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating leases which do not
transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of investment
properties. Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in revenue in
the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental
income which is recognised when it arises. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are recognised as an expense over the lease term
on the same basis as the lease income.
The sale of completed property constitutes a single performance obligation and the
Group has determined that this is satisfied at the point in time when control transfers.
For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally occurs when legal title
transfers to the customer. For conditional exchanges, this generally occurs when all
significant conditions are satisfied. Payments are received when legal title transfers.
-

Administration, Finance & Investment

The administration, finance and investment segment comprises of a number of
entities whose principal activity is that of either holding investments in associate
undertakings or acting as a financing arm for the Group.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating
segments.
The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) of the Group is deemed to be the Board
of Directors, who monitors the operating results of the business units separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is
measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.
The Group’s financing (including finance costs, finance income and other income)
and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating
segments.
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Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
Intra-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation and reflected below.
Segments for the year-ended 31 October 2021
Admin,
finance and
investment

Adjustments
and
eliminations

Consolidated

Hospitality

Construction

Healthcare

Real estate and
property rentals

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

20,118,717

8,740,734

7,296,320

30,563,063

11,126,491

(42,427,165)

35,418,160

-

21,602

21,488

301,677

52,082

(9,375)

387,474

(5,596,249)

(4,706,352)

(2,900,248)

(18,869,483)

(2,614,732)

17,263,547

(17,423,517)

Staff costs

(4,141,152)

(3,741,842)

(2,607,897)

(14,377)

(1,711,649)

514,619

(11,702,298)

EBITDA

10,381,316

314,142

1,809,663

11,980,880

6,852,192

(24,658,374)

6,679,819

Depreciation

(1,013,618)

(183,466)

(28,444)

(923,626)

(124,965)

(4,540,419)

(6,814,538)

Revenue
Other operating Income
Other operating costs

Gain on revaluation

4,964,812

Operating profit

4,830,093

Share of results
of associates and joint ventures

541,268

Net finance costs

(3,916,213)

Profit before tax

1,455,148

Taxation

473,130

Profit for the year

Segment assets
Segment liabilities
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1,928,278

96,411,900

7,767,515

61,333,857

425,255,183

247,175,337

(463,844,542)

374,099,250

(78,897,608)

(7,552,645)

(69,794,382)

(219,301,498)

(149,102,482)

387,692,046

(136,956,569)
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Segments for the year-ended 31 October 2020

Admin,
finance and
investment

Adjustments
and
eliminations

Consolidated

Hospitality

Construction

Healthcare

Real estate and
property rentals

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

15,335,868

9,256,296

7,558,655

8,312,656

2,565,751

(14,313,259)

28,715,967

-

2,282

27,730

310,516

2,958

(2,958)

340,528

Other operating costs

(11,480,571)

(5,165,169)

(5,517,191)

(1,503,562)

(1,061,533)

11,869,244

(12,858,782)

Staff costs

(6,166,775)

(3,746,023)

(2,940,329)

-

(1,737,984)

1,013,587

(13,577,524)

EBIDTA

(2,311,478)

347,386

(871,135)

7,119,610

(230,808)

(1,433,386)

2,620,189

Revenue
Other operating income

Depreciation

(7,087,334)

Operating loss

(4,467,145)

Share of results of associates

(320,665)

Net finance costs

(3,441,793)

Loss before tax

(8,229,603)

Taxation

339,873

Loss for the year

(7,889,730)

Segment assets

28,842,868

12,054,279

13,449,910

345,736,248

205,763,211

(257,189,128)

348,657,388

Segment liabilities

(10,985,852)

(11,848,372)

(20,973,116)

(103,005,813)

(151,284,166)

166,888,563

(131,208,816)
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8.

REVENUE

Revenue by category of activity:

Construction works and building materials
Hospitality and entertainment
Healthcare
Sale of property and real estate
Rental income
Management services
Dividends receivable

Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

6,465,732

6,039,800

-

-

13,975,203

14,987,031

-

-

5,523,762

5,876,608

-

-

8,000,350

750,000

-

-

1,453,113

1,062,528

111,574

-

-

-

626,097

-

-

-

10,110,769

333,333

35,418,160

28,715,967

10,848,440

333,333

Construction works, building materials and management services, hospitality and entertainment, healthcare and sale of property and real estate fall under IFRS 15 and are
recognized as follows:
Timing of revenue recognition
Group

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

At a point in time
Sale of property and real estate

8,000,350

750,000

Hospitality and entertainment

13,975,203

15,378,122

1,580,059

1,532,412

23,555,612

17,660,534

Construction works, building materials and management services

6,465,732

6,039,800

Healthcare

3,943,703

4,344,196

10,409,435

10,383,996

Healthcare

Over time

9.

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group

Ancillary services
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Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

387,474

340,528

42,708

-
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Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

10,605,931

11,146,324

1,603,885

-

904,924

934,101

69,225

-

11,510,855

12,080,425

1,673,110

-

Personnel costs
Wages and salaries
Social security costs

Subcontracted labour
Salaries capitalised
Total staff costs

1,135,626

2,510,686

-

-

(944,183)

(1,013,587)

-

-

11,702,298

13,577,524

1,673,110

-

Wages and salaries are net of COVID-19 related wage supplement received from the Government of Malta during the year which amounted to EUR 2,318,830 (March to October 2020:
EUR1,629,944).
The average number of employees (including the Directors) during the year were:
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Management and administration

150

127

36

-

Operations and distribution

427

501

2

-

577

628

38

-

11.

FINANCE INCOME
Group

Interest income from investments
Interest income from loans and receivables
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Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

53

61

-

-

28,005

-

12,993

846,868

28,058

61

12,993

846,868
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FINANCE COSTS
Group

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts
Interest on debt securities in issue

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

670,224

273,824

-

-

3,225,495

3,149,075

860,137

749,075

33,714

28,330

-

-

Interest on lease liabilities

-

-

120,653

-

Interest on amounts payable to subsidiary

-

-

1,381,155

-

Interest on other loans

Unrealised exchange differences

13.

14,838

(9,375)

-

-

3,944,271

3,441,854

2,361,945

749,075

OPERATING COSTS
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

130,000

109,500

16,120

6,000

81,500

-

-

-

9,800

9,800

300

300

-

-

-

-

Auditors’ remuneration
For audit services – statutory audit
For audit services – other assurance
For non-audit services

3,829,407

3,644,414

Cost of constructing property sold

4,191,262

494,741

Construction costs

1,022,912

873,965

87,304

23,305

121,896

42,839

1,750,000

-

1,750,000

-

Stock consumed

Movement in allowance for expected credit losses
Provision against claims for damages
Amortisation of bond issue costs
Water and electricity
Repairs and maintenance
Professional fees
Other administrative costs
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99,362

94,345

27,659

32,016

1,234,784

1,307,499

18,008

-

469,638

455,976

40,052

-

554,470

598,508

165,989

37,730

3,963,078

5,246,729

234,858

17,995

17,423,517

12,858,782

2,374,882

136,880
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14.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

786,358

784,704

743,359

-

563,842

517,237

228,215

-

Directors’ compensation
Short-term benefits

Other key management personnel compensation
Salaries and social security contributions

15.

TAXATION

As at year-end, unabsorbed tax losses and other temporary differences for which no asset is recognised in the Group amounted to EUR10,875,846 (2020: EUR6,996,067).
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

385,402

(163,802)

-

7,090

-

-

(1,073,399)

-

(858,532)

(176,071)

(303,724)

-

(473,130)

(339,873)

(1,377,123)

7,090

(1,580,743)

(1,532,062)

-

-

(2,053,873)

(1,871,935)

(1,377,123)

7,090

Malta income tax:
Current
- for the year (i)
- losses surrendered to subsidiaries
Deferred tax through profit or loss

Deferred tax through other comprehensive income

(i)

Current income tax credit for prior year related to tax at source refundable, net of withholding taxes.
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15.

TAXATION - CONTINUED
Group

Profit/(Loss) before taxation
- Tax thereon at 35%

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

1,455,148

(8,229,603)

51,714,876

294,246

509,302

(2,880,361)

18,100,207

102,986

(2,563,175)

1,008,426

(19,477,330)

(95,896)

(2,053,873)

(1,871,935)

(1,377,123)

7,090

Tax effect of:
Tax effect of permanent difference
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year

16.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The earnings per share has been calculated on the Group’s profit for the year of EUR1,928,278 (2020: loss for the year of EUR7,889,730) divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
Group

Weighted average number of shares in issue

Basic earnings / (loss) per share

CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR-ENDED 31 OCTOBER 2021

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

1,164,688

1,164,688

EUR

EUR

1.66

(6.77)
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17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
Land and buildings

Improvements

Plant and
machinery

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

243,932,512

29,333

21,681,156

822,629

43,083,747

309,549,377

Fair value/Cost
At 1.11.2019
Additions
Revaluation
Disposal
Write offs
Transfer*
At 31.10.2020
Additions
Revaluation
Disposal
Loss of control of a subsidiary
Transfer from Investment Property (Note 18)
Transfer between classes

777,572

-

608,102

9,000

3,041,658

4,436,332

(14,921,966)

-

-

-

-

(14,921,966)

(118,081)

-

-

(11,188)

-

(129,269)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(6,614,636)

-

-

-

-

(6,614,636)

223,055,401

29,333

22,289,258

820,441

46,125,405

292,319,838

2,671,758

-

340,188

3,500

1,456,848

4,472,294

16,588,946

-

-

-

-

16,588,946

(28,848)

-

-

-

-

(28,848)

(1,409,750)

-

-

(16,509)

(178,819)

(1,605,078)

6,178,962

-

870,423

-

(1,300,605)

5,748,780

-

-

(4,097,408)

-

4,097,408

-

(3,300,689)

-

-

-

-

(3,300,689)

243,755,780

29,333

19,402,461

807,432

50,200,237

314,195,243

At 01.11.2019

4,129,454

24,930

12,400,509

524,939

24,717,178

41,797,010

Provision for the year

3,093,290

4,403

918,942

17,542

3,053,157

7,087,334

Other transfer*
At 31.10.2021
Depreciation

Provision released on disposal
Transfer*
At 31.10.2020
Provision for the year
Loss of control of a subsidiary
Transfer*
At 31.10.2021

-

-

-

(4,474)

-

(4,474)

(6,614,636)

-

-

-

-

(6,614,636)

608,108

29,333

13,319,451

538,007

27,770,335

42,265,234

2,777,084

-

601,657

66,229

3,369,568

6,814,538

-

-

-

(12,738)

(116,971)

(129,709)

(3,300,689)

-

-

-

-

(3,300,689)

84,503

29,333

13,921,108

591,498

31,022,932

45,649,374

Net book value
At 31.10.2021

243,671,277

-

5,481,353

215,934

19,177,305

268,545,869

At 31.10.2020

222,447,293

-

8,969,807

282,434

18,355,070

250,054,604

At 01.11.2019

239,803,058

4,403

9,280,647

297,690

18,366,569

267,752,367

*This transfer relates to accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation, eliminated against the gross carrying amount for the asset.
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17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – CONTINUED

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued by independent professional qualified valuers. The surplus on revaluation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. Note 18 provides
detailed information regarding the key assumptions used in performing such revaluation. The Directors assumed that the fair value of these additions is equivalent to its cost.
The carrying amount of land and buildings, had they been measured at cost, would have amounted to EUR60,254,474 (2020: EUR54,153,972).
Company

At 01.11.2020
Effect of merger (note 3)
Additions

Land and buildings

Furniture, fittings and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Fair value

Cost

Cost

-

-

-

-

4,180,079

1,471,786

432,055

6,083,920

-

948,508

-

948,508

(4,180,079)

-

-

(4,180,079)

-

2,420,294

432,055

2,852,349

At 01.11.2020

-

-

-

-

Effect of merger (note 3)

-

1,071,124

360,509

1,431,633

Provision for the year

-

113,840

8,628

122,468

At 31.10.2021

-

1,184,964

369,137

1,554,101

Net book value
At 31.10.2021

-

1,235,330

62,918

1,298,248

Net book value
At 31.10.2020

-

-

-

-

Transfer to investment property (note 18)

At 31.10.2021

Depreciation
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group

Company

EUR

EUR

(i)

Details of the transfers to / from investment property to / from property, 		
plant and equipment:

Fair value
At 31 October 2019

Group

Company

EUR

EUR

58,804,763

-

16,841,636

-

Commencement of owner-occupation

(4,247,173)

-

75,646,399

-

Commencement of development with a view
to owner-occupation

(5,681,686)

At 31 October 2020

4,180,079

4,180,079

At 31 October 2020

75,646,399

-

-

4,550,000

(5,748,780)

4,180,079

1,814,933

23,484

4,964,812

1,532,855

(5,748,780)

4,180,079

(23,945,407)

(750,000)

Additions

End of owner-occupation
Effect of merger
Additions
Revaluation
Transfers (to) / from property, plant and equipment (i)
Transfers to inventory (ii)
Total investment properties
Less: classified as held for sale
At 31 October 2021

52,731,957

9,536,418

(4,286,418)

(4,286,418)

48,445,539

(ii)

Details of the transfers to / from investment property to inventory:

Commencement of development with a view to sale
Transfer to inventory with a view to sale

5,250,000

The transfers (to) / from property, plant and equipment and inventory during the
current year relates to the transfer of properties resulting from a change in use,
following management’s assessment of whether the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property.

Group

Company

EUR

EUR

(23,195,407)

-

(750,000)

(750,000)

(23,945,407)

(750,000)

Valuation process
The Group’s land and buildings are classified as either property, plant and equipment
or investment properties depending on their intended use. Land and buildings are
revalued by professionally qualified architects or surveyors on the basis of assessments
of the fair value of the property in accordance with the international valuation
standards and professional practice.
In the years where a valuation is not obtained, management verifies all major inputs
to the independent valuation report, assesses any property valuation movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report and hold discussions with the
independent valuer, as necessary.
For all properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use.
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – CONTINUED

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs,
maintenance and enhancements.
The Group’s property has been determined to fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The different levels in the fair value are defined in Note 5.10.
Details of the investment properties and land and buildings and information about their fair value hierarchy as at the end of the year:

(i)

Investment Properties

Type of Property
Land

Level 3

Total

Date of

EUR

EUR

Valuation

18,757,836

18,757,836

06/01/2019

5,827,678

5,827,678

31/10/2020

Commercial property

9,970,035

9,970,035

31/10/2021

Residential

3,839,000

3,839,000

28/01/2019

Total

(ii)

410,990

410,000

31/10/2020

9,640,000

9,640,000

31/10/2021

48,445,539

48,445,539

Level 3

Total

Date of

EUR

EUR

Valuation

Land and Buildings

Type of Property
Commercial property

9,025,159

9,025,159

19/12/2020

Commercial property

234,730,621

234,730,621

31/10/2021

Total

243,755,780

243,755,780

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were
no transfers between levels during the year.

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of lands and buildings and investment properties
For investment properties categorized under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the valuation was determined by a combination of the market approach, the replacement cost
approach and the income capitalization approach as applicable.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – CONTINUED

i

Investment Properties
Type of Property

Valuation Technique

Inputs

Sensitivity

Residential property amounting to
EUR3,839,000

Income capitalisation approach

Capitalisation rate at 4% and a yearly rental The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
income of €144,000
The higher the rental income and growth rate the higher
the fair value.

Commercial property amounting to
EUR9,970,035

Income capitalisation approach

The inputs used to calculate the total value of The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
the property is an annual return of EUR200 per The higher the rental income and growth rate the higher
square meter at a capitalisation rate ranging the fair value.
from 5.75% to 6%.

Land amounting to EUR18,757,836

Income capitalisation approach

The inputs used to calculate the total value of The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
the property on completion is an annual return The higher the annual return per square meter the higher
of EUR 145 per square meter at a capitalisation the fair value.
rate of 5%.

Land amounting to EUR5,827,678

Market approach

Market transaction

The higher the rates, the higher the fair value.

Residential property amounting to EUR410,990 Market approach

Based on prices of similar property

The higher the market rates, the higher the fair value

Residential property amounting to
EUR5,250,000

Replacement Cost Approach

This method takes into account the actual The higher the rates for construction, finishings, services
physical building fabric constituting the facility, and fittings the higher the fair value.
together with an estimated land value. The
valuation relies on estimated going rates of the
various components of the existing building.

Residential property amounting to
EUR4,390,000

Market approach

The valuation of investment property was based The higher the market rates, the higher the fair value.
on market rates for comparable advertised
properties taking into account the size, fit out
of the subject units, location of the property
and current situation of the residential and
commercial property market.

*This amount includes an amount of EUR410,990 which was acquired during the year and for which cost is deemed to be equal to fair value.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – CONTINUED

ii.

Land and Buildings

Type of Property

Valuation Technique

Inputs

Sensitivity

Commercial property
amounting to
EUR7,703,880

Income capitalisation
approach

The inputs used to calculate the total value of the property is an annual return in the The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
range of EUR200 and EUR220 per square meter at a capitalisation rate of 6%
The higher the rental income and growth rate the higher
the fair value.

Commercial property*

Income capitalisation
approach

The main inputs used are a rental income of € 414,500 per annum, a management The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
The higher the rental income and the lower the
cost of 5% and a capitalisation rate of 5.75%.
management cost the higher the fair value.

Commercial property
amounting to
EUR4,790,000

Income capitalisation
approach

The inputs used to calculate the total value of the property is a capitalisation rate of The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.
5% to 11.83%.
The higher the rental income and growth rate the higher
the fair value.

Commercial property
amounting to
EUR182,601,740

Average of income
capitalisation
approach and
replacement cost
approach

Income capitalization approach: EBIDTA range between €1,136,310 and €7,496,738,
capitalisation yield of 8.33%, land appreciation of 4.5% per annum, discount rate for
commercial property sale at termination 6% and discount rate for future income of
11.83%
Replacement cost approach: This method takes into account the actual physical
building fabric constituting the facility, together with an estimated land value. The
valuation relies on estimated going rates of the various components of the existing
building.

Commercial property
amounting to
EUR9,025,159

Replacement cost
approach

This method takes into account the actual physical building fabric constituting the The higher the rates for construction, finishing, services and
facility, together with an estimated land value. The valuation relies on estimated going fittings, the higher the fair value.
rates of the various components of the existing building to which a multiplication
factor was applied to factor-in the property’s unique characteristics. The main inputs
used were EUR250/sqm for shell construction, EUR200/sqm for building services,
EUR200/sqm to EUR250/sqm for finishing depending on the area.

Commercial property*

Replacement cost
approach

Market rate per square meter and € 1,750/sqm which was multiplied by 1.5 given the The higher the market rate, the higher the fair value.
exclusive setting of the project and by 1.2 considering the location. Units enjoying The higher the growth rate and the lower the discount rate
country views have been factored upward by 25% while those enjoying town views the higher the fair value.
have been factored upward by 15%. The value of the committed units was reduced
taking into account a growth of 3.5% per annum discounted at a rate of 8.5%.

Commercial property*

Replacement cost
approach

The main inputs used were € 350/sqm for shell construction, € 180/sqm for building The higher the rates the higher the fair value.
services, €200/sqm to €300/sqm for finishings depending on the area, € 150/sqm for
landscaped areas and €300/sqm for the pool area. Property, plant and equipment
with a net book value of €10,400,000 was deducted from the total valuation.

Income capitalization approach: The higher the EBITDA
and capitalisation yield, the higher the fair value.
Replacement cost approach: The higher the rates for
construction, finishings, services and fittings, the higher
the fair value.

*Total fair value of such commercial properties amounts to EUR39,601,504. During the year the Group used the same valuation techniques used in the previous year.
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19.

LEASES

Group as a lessor
The operating leases relating to investment properties owned by the Group have
terms between 1 and 20 years. The lessee does not have the option to purchase the
property at the expiry of the lease period. The income earned under the operating
lease amounted to EUR1,329,637 (2020: EUR529,378).
At the end of the reporting period, the lessee had outstanding commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:
2021
EUR
Initial recognition at 1 November 2020

1,871,009

Lease modification at 1 July 2021

3,281,704

Accretion of interest

120,653

2021

2020

Amounts set-off in respect of payments

(263,333)

EUR

EUR

Closing balance at 31 October 2021

5,010,033

Within one year

1,132,838

973,779

Between two and five years

1,744,526

1,900,827

598,646

1,917,075

3,476,010

4,791,681

Current

Over five years

140,907

Non-current

5,010,033

20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group

Company as a lessee
On 1 November 2020, the Company entered into a new lease agreement with a
subsidiary for the rental of its Head Office for a period of ten years. The lease was
superseded by a new lease agreement made on 23 November 2021 with effect from 1
July 2021 for twenty years and four months. In terms of the current lease agreement,
the Company pays annual rent of EUR352,450.
The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during
the year are as follows:
Offices
EUR

4,869,126

Loans to
shareholders
EUR

Loans to other
related party

Investments in
associates and
joint ventures

EUR

EUR

EUR

At 31 October 2019

-

457,228

6,832,761

Share of results

-

-

(320,665)

Transfer to payable account

-

(457,228)

At 31 October 2020

-

-

6,512,096

Loss of control of a subsidiary

-

-

348,337

-

-

541,268

Initial recognition at 1 November 2020

1,871,009

Share of results

Lease modification at 1 July 2021

3,281,704

New loan origination

830,318

900,000

-

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

(207,160)

Closing balance at 31 October 2021

4,945,553

At 31 October 2021

830,318

900,000

7,401,701
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20.

Company

FINANCIAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

Loans to shareholders and to other related party
Loans to shareholders and to other related party are unsecured, bear an interest rate
of 4% and are repayable by 31 December 2023. The entity determines the expected
credit loss allowance on these loans based on a probability of default of 0.16% and a
loss given default of 100%.

Investment in
subsidiaries

Loans Receivable

EUR

EUR

1,655,297

2,098,066

1

25,278,974

Cost
At 1 November 2019

Investments in associates and joint ventures

Additions

The Group has a 36% interest and voting rights in Valletta Cruise Port p.l.c. (2020:
36%), 33% interest and voting rights in Imselliet Solar Limited (2020: 33%) and 50%
interest and voting rights in Hardrocks Estates Limited (2020: 51%). The entities are
privately owned entities registered and operating in Malta and are not listed on any
public exchange. The Group’s interest in Valletta Cruise Port p.l.c., Imselliet Solar
Limited and Hardrocks Estates Limited is accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statement.

At 1 November 2020

1,655,298

27,377,040

Effect of merger

71,071,612

(27,377,040)

The Group’s carrying amount of the investments includes goodwill amounting to
EUR1,449,613 (2020: EUR1,449,613) resulting upon acquisition of an interest at an
amount higher than its book value.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s
investment in these entities:
2021

2020

EUR

EUR

Current assets

4,506,285

3,656,023

Non-current assets

53,818,502

53,427,332

5,015,152

4,739,872

37,132,325

37,653,191

Revenue

6,251,963

3,373,376

Profit / (loss) for the year

844,844

(230,035)

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Additions

2,012,993

113,836,334

Disposals

(37,678,476)

-

Reduction in capital
contributions

(6,600,000)

-

-

130,443

30,461,427

113,966,777

At 1 November 2019

-

1,497

Movement for the year

-

42,306

At 1 November 2020

-

43,803

Movement for the year

-

125,311

At 31 October 2021

-

169,114

At 31 October 2021

30,461,427

113,797,663

At 31 October 2020

1,655,298

27,333,237

Transfer from current receivable
At 31 October 2021
Expected credit loss

Net book value

The associates had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments at 31 October
2021 and 31 October 2020.
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20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS - CONTINUED

22.

Investment in subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements comprise the results and position of the
Group and the Company as at 31 October 2021, which is a common year-end of
all subsidiaries forming part of the Group. The list of subsidiaries consolidated is
disclosed in Note 4. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.
During the year, the Group went through a reorganisation exercise whereby the shares
in a number of subsidiaries were sold to another subsidiary, AX Real Estates p.l.c., for
the purpose of consolidating the main property letting activities of the Group into
a newly formed sub-group. The Company sold the shares held in these subsidiaries
for a consideration of EUR83,695,921, net of reversals of past capital contributions
amounting to EUR6,600,000. The cost as at the date of disposal amounted to
EUR37,678,476, resulting in a gain on disposal of investment in subsidiaries amounting
to EUR46,017,445. The addition to investment in subsidiaries relates to an investment
in a newly formed subsidiary, Verdala Terraces Limited which is a limited liability
company incorporated in Malta on 30 September 2021.

Loans receivable
Loans receivable include loans to shareholders amounting to EUR830,318 which are
unsecured, bear an interest rate of 4% and are repayable by 31 December 2023. The
remaining balance relates to subsidiary undertaking loans, which are unsecured,
carries interest at 3% + Euribor (2020: 4%) and is repayable on 31 December 2034.
The entity determines the expected credit loss allowance on the Group undertakings
loans based on a probability of default of 0.16% and a loss given default of 100%.
The increase in loan during the year ended 31 October 2021 mostly relates to the
disposal of investment in subsidiaries and the reassignment of loans following a
Group restructuring.
21.

INVENTORIES
Group
2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

25,427,271

3,619,793

762,466

-

1,277,973

1,348,668

-

-

26,705,244

4,968,461

762,466

-

3,509,837

4,968,461

762,466

-

Non-current

23,195,407

-

-

-

Total

26,705,244

4,968,461

762,466

-

Property held for development and re-sale
Raw materials and consumables

Current
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Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

3,213,699

3,160,479

14,486

-

Provision for doubtful debts (i)

(406,531)

(202,029)

-

-

Allowance for ECL on trade
receivables (i)

(154,994)

(179,336)

-

-

2,652,174

2,779,114

14,486

-

Amounts owed by associates (ii)

1,269,399

1,371,714

-

-

Amounts owed by other related
parties (ii)

141,590

16,051

19,217

-

Amounts owed by subsidiaries (ii)

-

-

7,486,452

-

Shareholders’ current account (ii)

1,610,269

450,686

1,448,054

-

-

-

(20,894)

-

Advanced deposits received

1,822,996

2,326,587

1,283,252

-

Prepayments and accrued income

2,731,872

1,303,384

715

2,370

10,228,300

8,247,536

10,231,282

2,370

Trade receivables (i)

Allowance for ECL on balances
owed by related parties (ii)

(i)

Company

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing, and repayable on 60
day terms.

Impairment of financial assets – trade receivables
The entity applies the simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses
for all trade receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component.
In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on
a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been
grouped based on the days past due and also according to the geographical location
of customers. The expected credit losses for trade receivables as at 31 October 2021
was determined as follows:
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22.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - CONTINUED

Impairment of financial assets – trade receivables - continued
2021

Current

>30 days

>60 days

>90 days

>180 days

>365 days

%

0.10-3.03

0.18-3.70

0.47-6.50

1.14-30.12

1.47-32.68

100

Gross carrying amount

EUR

1,899,844

578,357

156,623

101,927

153,544

323,404

3,213,699

Lifetime expected credit loss

EUR

12,750

3,086

2,489

4,230

9,105

123,334

154,994

Provision for doubtful debts

EUR

-

-

-

-

406,531

-

406,531

Current

>30 days

>60 days

>90 days

>180 days

>365 days

Total

%

0.09-2.39

0.12-2.94

0.16-3.78

0.85-6.9

1.73-8.68

100

Gross carrying amount

EUR

858,783

190,487

189,925

243,652

1,206,674

470,958

3,160,479

Lifetime expected credit loss

EUR

426

1,536

2,550

464

27,566

146,694

179,336

Provision for doubtful debts

EUR

-

-

-

-

202,029

-

202,029

Expected credit loss rate

2020
Expected credit loss rate

Total

(ii)

Amounts owed by associates, amounts owed by other related parties and amounts owed by subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment.
Amounts owed by associates are dividends receivable.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

25.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group

Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the
following:
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Cash at bank and in hand

5,911,979

2,187,060

25,683

157,699

Bank overdrafts (Note 26)

(2,200,250)

(2,353,561)

(1,142)

-

3,711,729

(166,501)

24,541

157,699

24.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

As at year-end, retentions held by customers for contract works amounted to
EUR300,761 (2020: EUR669,740).
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Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Trade payables (i)

3,781,668

4,286,786

125,685

136

Other payables (ii)

5,549,132

3,938,336

2,740,571

-

32,844

522,743

218,694

-

17,620,908

18,565,736

30,862

5,138

26,984,552

27,313,601

3,115,812

5,274

Current

13,684,744

13,410,560

2,987,024

5,274

Non-current

13,299,808

13,903,041

128,788

-

26,984,552

27,313,601

3,115,812

5,274

Indirect taxation and social security
Accruals and deferred income (iii)
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25.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES - CONTINUED

(i)
(ii)

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and repayable within a 60-day term.
Other payables include a provision of EUR1,750,000 against claims for
damages by the Commissioner of Lands for alleged illegal occupation of two
tracts of land by two different subsidiaries of the Group. The subsidiaries are
currently in negotiations with the commissioner to settle the matter amicably.
Accruals and deferred income mainly relate to upfront receipts from
retirement home residents which will be recognised as revenue when the
performance obligation is satisfied.

(iii)

26.

The Group has aggregate bank facilities of EUR27,412,974 (2020: EUR29,079,844) of
which EUR6,011,835 (2020: EUR15,880,407) were undrawn as at the reporting date.
These facilities are secured by general hypothecs over the group assets, by special
hypothecs over various immovable properties, by pledges over various insurance
policies, and by personal guarantees of the ultimate controlling party. They bear
interest at 3.25% to 5.15% per annum (2020: 3.25% to 5.15%).
27.

OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

BANK BORROWINGS

Group
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Shareholder’s loan (i)

-

-

-

1,162,357

Amounts owed to subsidiaries (ii)

-

-

59,332,635

-

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Bank loans

19,212,972

10,214,719

-

-

Bank overdrafts (Note 23)

2,200,250

2,353,561

1,142

-

Amounts owed to other related
parties (iii)

-

454,620

-

-

21,413,222

12,568,280

1,142

-

Total other financial liabilities

-

454,620

59,332,635

1,162,357

Current

-

454,620

29,311,407

1,162,357

Non-current

-

-

30,021,228

-

Total other financial liabilities

-

454,620

59,332,635

1,162,357

Bank loans and overdrafts are repayable as follows:
Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

On demand or within one year

6,474,023

5,375,904

1,142

-

Between two and five years

11,986,284

4,946,695

-

-

2,952,915

2,245,681

-

-

21,413,222

12,568,280

1,142

-

Current

6,474,023

5,375,904

1,142

-

Non-current

14,939,199

7,192,376

-

-

21,413,222

12,568,280

1,142

-

After five years
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(i)
(ii)
(iii)

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
Amounts owed to subsidiaries, except for an aggregate amount of 		
EUR30,021,228 which bears interest in the range of 3-10%, are unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed date of repayment.
Amounts owed to other related parties are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed date of repayment.
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28.

DEBT SECURITIES IN ISSUE

Group
2021

2020

EUR

EUR

63,856,761

39,518,498

Bonds issued during the year (net of bond issue costs)

-

24,630,198

Bonds held by group entities

-

(386,280)

99,362

94,345

63,956,123

63,856,761

2,316,985

2,320,208

66,273,108

66,176,969

Group and Company
During 2020, AX Group p.l.c. issued an aggregate principal amount of EUR25,000,000
bonds, split in two tranches of EUR15,000,000 (2020 – 2026) and EUR10,000,000
(2020 – 2029), having a nominal value of EUR100 each, bearing interest at the rate of
3.25% and 3.75% respectively per annum. These bonds are unsecured and subject to
the terms and conditions in the prospectus dated 22 November 2020. The bonds are
listed on the Official Companies List of the Malta Stock Exchange. The quoted market
price as at 31 October 2021 for the 3.25% bonds (2020 – 2026) was EUR102.25 (2020:
EUR100.25) and for the 3.75% bonds (2020 – 2029) was EUR103 (2020: EUR101.10).
The fair value of the bonds as at 31 October 2021 amounted to EUR15,337,500 (2020:
EUR15,037,500) and EUR10,303,000 (2020: EUR10,110,000) respectively, which
amounts to an aggregated fair value of EUR25,640,500 (2020: EUR25,147,500). The
carrying value of the bonds as at 31 October 2021 amounted to EUR24,689,873 (2020:
EUR24,662,214).
As at year-end, the Company had a balance of EUR24,689,873 from this bond issue.
The amount is made up of the bond issue of EUR25,000,000 net of the bond issue
costs which are being amortised over the lifetime of the bonds.
In addition to the above, during 2014, AX Investments p.l.c., a subsidiary company,
issued an aggregate principal amount of EUR40,000,000 bonds (2014 -2024), having
a nominal value of EUR100 each, bearing interest at the rate of 6% per annum. These
bonds are unsecured and subject to the terms and conditions in the prospectus
dated 3 February 2014. The bonds are listed on the Official Companies List of the
Malta Stock Exchange. The quoted market price as at 31 October 2021 for the 6%
bonds (2014 – 2024) was EUR104 (2020: EUR104). The fair value of the bond as at 31
October 2021 amounted to EUR41,600,000 (2020: EUR41,600,000). The carrying value
of the bond as at 31 October 2021 amounted to EUR39,851,606 (2020: EUR39,789,277).
Interest on the bonds is due and payable annually in arrears on 6 March of each year
at the above-mentioned rate. In terms of the offering memorandum of the “6% AX
Investments p.l.c. 2024 Bond”, AX Group p.l.c., has provided a corporate guarantee in
favour of the bondholders to affect the due and punctual performance of all payment
obligations undertaken by the subsidiary under the bonds if it fails to do so.
As at year-end, AX Investments p.l.c. had a balance of EUR39,851,606 from this bond
issue. The amount is made up of the bond issue of EUR40,000,000 net of the bond
issue costs which are being amortised over the lifetime of the bonds.
As at year-end, the Group had a balance of EUR63,956,123 from the bond issues. The
amount is made up of the bond issues of EUR65,000,000 net of bond issue costs
which are being amortised over the life of the bonds.
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At beginning of year

Bond issue costs amortization for the year

Accrued interest
At end of year

2,316,985

2,320,208

Falling due between two and five years

39,266,250

39,194,547

Falling due after more than five years

24,689,873

24,662,214

66,273,108

66,176,969

Falling due within one year

Company
2021

2020

EUR

EUR

24,662,214

-

Bonds issued during the year

-

25,000,000

Bond issue costs

-

(369,802)

24,662,214

24,630,198

27,659

32,016

24,689,873

24,662,214

746,712

749,935

25,436,585

25,412,149

746,712

749,935

24,689,873

24,662,214

25,436,585

25,412,149

At beginning of year

Proceeds from bond issue
Bond issue costs amortised for the year

Accrued interest
At end of year
Current
Non-current
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29.

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

30.
Group

CALLED UP ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Company and Group

Company

2021

2020

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

(45,915)

498,333

14,110

-

(270,587)

(128,290)

(66,503)

-

Unabsorbed tax losses and capital
allowances

(4,331,994)

(3,942,392)

(185,453)

-

Called up issued and fully paid up

Revaluation of investment properties

26,934,183

28,495,219

762,913

-

1,164,688 (2020: 1,164,688) ordinary shares of EUR1 each

Net lease position

-

-

(22,568)

-

Movement in value of financial assets

-

(247,949)

-

-

Unrealised difference on exchange

-

20,425

-

-

22,285,687

24,695,346

502,499

-

Arising on:
Excess of capital allowances over
depreciation
Provision for doubtful debts

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

300,000,000

300,000,000

1,164,688

1,164,688

Authorised
300,000,000 ordinary shares of EUR1 each

Each ordinary share gives the right to one vote, participates equally in profits
distributed by the Company and carries equal rights upon the distribution of assets
by the Company in the event of a winding up.

Revaluation reserve
The Company’s revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of investment properties
and land and buildings. When the revalued property is sold, the portion of the
property revaluation reserve that relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is
transferred directly to retained earnings.

Retained earnings
The reserve represents accumulated retained profits that are available for distribution
to the Company’s shareholders.
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30.

CALLED UP ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL – CONTINUED

Group
2021

Dividend paid
No dividend was declared and paid during the year-ended 31 October 2021 (yearended 31 October 2020: EUR0.28 per share).

EUR
5,365,926

Authorised and contracted

23,934,074

Authorised but not contracted

31.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 October 2021, the Group had the following contingent liabilities, for which no
provision has been made in these financial statements:
-

-

-

32.

A third party is claiming damages from a subsidiary for injuries suffered. The
court adjudicated the case in favour of the third party and awarded the sum
of EUR78,906 in damages which the subsidiary has appealed in terms of both
responsibilities and quantification of damages. The subsidiary is fully covered by
insurance.
As at year-end, two subsidiaries had blocked funds relating to a garnishee
order in favour of third parties amounting to EUR74,251 (2020: EUR74,251). The
Directors are confident that the outcome of all the above claims will be in favour
of the subsidiaries.
Various guarantees were given in favour of third parties amounting
to EUR8,995,976 (2020: EU R2,299,266).
CONTINGENT ASSETS

A subsidiary of the Group was awarded the sum of Eur40,986 in compensation for
services rendered with the third party appealing the judgement. In 2020, a subsidiary
was adjudicated a compensation amounting to EUR310,848 for damages in a court
case it had initiated relating to a building permit which was withheld. Both parties
are appealing to this decision and are requesting a revision of the compensation.
33.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Commitments for capital expenditure with respect to the development and
completion of a number of projects stood as follows:

34.

RELATED PARTIES

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr Angelo Xuereb, who holds 55% of
the voting rights of the Company.

Group
All entities in which Mr Xuereb has control, has significant influence or is a member
of the key management personnel are considered to be “related parties” in these
financial statements. Related parties also comprise of key management who have
the ability to control or exercise a significant influence in financial and operating
decisions.
Balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 22 and Note 27.

Company
All subsidiaries of AX Group p.l.c. are deemed to be related parties in these financial
statements.
Transactions with related parties
The Company entered into transactions with related parties as follows:

Interest payable to subsidiaries
Gain on disposal of investment in subsidiaries
Dividend received from subsidiaries

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

1,381,155

-

46,039,416

-

10,110,769

333,333

Balances with related parties
Balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 20, Note 22 and Note 27 respectively.
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35.

2021

Less than 6
months

From 6 to
12 months

From 1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

Bank borrowings

3,121,832

1,678,418

13,121,373

3,213,842

21,135,465

Debt securities in issue

1,631,250

1,631,250

48,250,000

26,987,500

78,500,000

9,330,800

-

-

-

9,330,000

Total

14,083,882

3,309,668

61,371,373

30,201,342

108,966,465

2020

Less than 6
months

From 6 to
12 months

From 1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Total

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

367,405

2,881,286

5,647,772

2,476,194

11,372,657

Debt securities in issue

1,631,250

1,631,250

57,969,486

26,731,123

87,963,109

Other payables

8,241,734

-

-

-

8,241,734

10,240,389

4,512,536

63,617,258

29,207,317

107,577,500

RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The most significant financial risks to which the Group and the Company are exposed
to are described below.
The Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk
through its use of financial instruments which result from its operating, investing and
financing activities. The Group’s and the Company’s risk management is coordinated
by the Directors and focuses on actively securing the Group’s and the Company’s
short term to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial risks.

Credit risk

Other payables

The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of
financial assets recognised at the date of the statement of financial position, which
are disclosed in Notes 17, 20 and 27.
The Group and the Company continuously monitor defaults of customers and other
counterparts and incorporate this information into their credit risk controls. The
Group and the Company’s policy is to deal with creditworthy counterparties.
None of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets are secured by collateral or
other credit enhancements.
The credit risk for liquid funds is considered to be negligible, since the counterparties
are reputable institutions with high quality external credit ratings.
Quoted investments are acquired after assessing the quality of the relevant
investments.
Cash is placed with reliable financial institutions.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises from its obligations
to meet financial liabilities, which comprise debt securities, trade and other
payables and other financial liabilities. Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and committed credit facilities to ensure the availability of
an adequate amount of funding to meet the Group’s and the Company’s obligations
when they become due.
At 31 October 2021 and 31 October 2020, the contractual maturities on the financial
liabilities of the Group and the Company were as summarized below. Contractual
maturities reflect gross cash flows, which may differ from the carrying values of
financial liabilities at the date of the statement of financial position.
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Bank borrowings

Total

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency transactions arise when the Group and the Company enter into
transactions denominated in a foreign currency. Foreign currency transactions
mainly comprise transactions in US Dollars and GB Pounds.
The risk arising from foreign currency transactions is managed by regular monitoring
of the relevant exchange rates. The Directors consider foreign exchange risk exposure
to not be material and accordingly a sensitivity analysis disclosing how profit or loss
and other comprehensive income would change as a result of a reasonable possible
shift in foreign exchange rates, is not considered necessary.

Interest rate risk
The Group and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the variable
interest rates on borrowings. Based on observations of current market conditions,
the director considers an upward or downward movement in interest of 1% to be
reasonably possible. However, the potential impact of such a variance is considered
immaterial.
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36.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

37.

For the purpose of the Group’s and the Company’s capital management, capital
includes issued capital and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity holders
of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s and the Company’s capital
maximise the shareholder value.
The Group and the Company manage their capital structure and make adjustments in
light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain and adjust the capital structure,
the Group and the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or
issue new debt. The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net debt Interest
bearing loans and borrowings, trade and other payables and other financial liabilities
less cash and cash equivalents.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2021

2020

EUR

EUR

85,369,345

76,425,041

-

454,620

26,984,552

29,633,809

(5,911,979)

(2,187,060)

106,441,918

104,326,410

1,164,688

1,164,688

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Less: cash and cash equivalents
Net Debt

Equity
Other reserves
Total capital

Capital and net debt

235,265,310

215,272,039

236,429,998

216,436,727

342,871,916

320,763,137

31.0%

32.5%

Gearing ratio

PRIOR PERIOD RECLASSIFICATIONS AND RESTATEMENTS

Certain amounts within the comparative statement of financial position have been
reclassified to achieve better comparability with the current period. In this respect,
EUR2,320,208 and EUR749,935 which relate to interest accrued on bonds payable
were reclassified from trade and other payables to debt securities in issue within
current liabilities for both the Group and the Company respectively.
38.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 23 November 2021, AX Real Estate p.l.c., a subsidiary of the Company, issued of
150,000,000 ordinary ‘B’ shares of a nominal value of EUR0.125 each in favour of the
Company by virtue of the capitalisation of a loan due to the Company amounting to
EUR50,000,000 at EUR0.3334 each, split as to EUR0.125 per share in nominal value
and EUR0.2084 per share in share premium.
In February 2022, AX Real Estates p.l.c. obtained a sanction letter from a local financial
institution for a Loan Facility amounting to EUR15,000,000 which has been provided
to enable the Group to further support its initial costs related to the extension of
the Suncrest Hotel in Qawra and for the redevelopment of the Verdala Hotel site in
Rabat. The Loan Facility bears interest of 3.75% p.a. and the outstanding loan amount
is repayable in full within 2 years from the date of the first drawdown.
In February 2022, AX Group managed to successfully list AX Real Estate p.l.c. on the
Malta Stock Exchange, with 25% of the ordinary A shares being taken up by the
general public. Through this transaction, AX Real Estate p.l.c. raised EUR13,645,644.
In conjunction with the share issue, AX Real Estate p.l.c. also issued EUR40
million unsecured bonds redeemable in 2032. The general public subscribed to
EUR18,354,600 bonds whilst the remaining EUR21,645,400 bonds were allocated to
the Company through the part conversion of the existing intra-group loan with AX
Real Estate p.l.c. It is the intention of the Company to dispose of the allocated bonds
at the opportune time to ascertain sufficient liquidity for the Suncrest and Verdala
hotel developments.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 October 2021 and 2020.
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